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Group Overview  

Pª^|« Nµs®gr "pªsg^ 6~zis|q« >®i ÝêTrans Switch Africaë or êThe Companyë) was incorporated and 

registered in Mauritius on 21 April 2016 as a public Company and holds a Category 1 Global 

Business License in accordance with the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 and the Mauritian Financial 

Services Act 2007. The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (SEM) on the 6th of 

February 2018.  

Trans Switch Africa maintains a vision of creating value for stakeholders through its consolidation 

strategy positioning Mauritius as the platform.  

The Company anticipates that there are si gnificant opportunities on the African continent, and 

increasingly further abroad, to provide high -end business process, outsourced services specifically 

for Financial Service providers such as banks and other institutions. With the last decades growth of 

financial services, the expansive distribution of internet access combined with accelerated reliance 

on new technologies, we believe there to be a significant market to consolidate good quality service 

providers to provide a range of diversified, bespoke p roducts and services to customers through 

tailor -made, separated and fully , environments.  

 

  

Strategy 

 

Prk +~{§^|·í« «®ª^®kq· s« ®~ s|´k«® ^|iÛ~ª ®~ ^g® ^« ^ g^®^z·«® s| ®rk g~|«~zsi^®s~| ~p |sgrk 

businesses providing managed outsourced account hosting, electronic transaction processing 

and ancillary services to the financial services industry. In particular, the Company wants to 

consolidate multiple players focusing on solution -based platforms, back -end infr astructure and 

payment processing for banking and non -banking businesses and to provide a host of these 

services through a single platform/entity to the end customer.  

To emerge as a leading outsourced services provider to the Financial Services Industry b y 

focusing on consolidating fragmented businesses with high growth in Africa and abroad.  

To create sustainable growth for all stakeholders by building up and investing into a portfolio 

of carefully chosen businesses servicing the Financial Services Industry and ensuring post 

acquisition integration and synergy extraction through the expertise, experience and track 

record of the SAFYR Group and its network of partners in order to achieve enterprise growth.  
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Vision, Mission, and Values 

 

 

  

To create sustainable growth for all stakeholders 

by building up and investing into a portfolio of 

carefully  chosen businesses servicing the 

Financial Services Industry and ensuring post 

acquisition integration and synergy extraction 

through the expertise, experience and track 

record of our partners and their network in order 

to achieve enterprise growth at both  an 

underlying institutional and holdings leve l. 

 

Our Vision  

Our Values  

 

To emerge as a leading 

outsourced services provider 

to the Financial Services 

Industry by focusing on 

consolidating fragmented 

businesses with high growth 

potential in Africa and 

abroad.  

 

Our Mission 

 

We believe in establishing strong  

win -win partnerships with local and  

foreign businesses to serve as a  

platform for each business to  

reach its full potential.  
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Group Structure  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

AfriSwitch Limited  
(GBC1 - MAURITIUS) 

 

Vivere Global Limited  
(GBC1 - MAURITIUS) 

 

           Trans Switch Africa Holdings Limited  
                                                     (GBC1 - MAURITIUS) 

Public Investors 

IT Novate Limited  
(Domestic Mauritius)  

>99% 

Blue Saphire S.A. 
(LUXEMBOURG) 

>1% 

100% 
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Chairmans Report 

Dear Stakeholder,  

Thank you for taking the time to read the Trans Switch 

Africa Holdings Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 

2022.  

It would appear the world thought the worst was over with 

the Covid Pandemic winding down at the clos e of 2021 

and looked forward to 2022 being a more positive year on 

all fronts. This was not to be the case, as the first half of 

2022 commenced with a massive downward turn in global 

equity markets.  

Although the investment portfolios within our Group were  

not spared the impact of the negative equity market 

returns, the Group all in all has withstood the worldwide 

challenges with fortitude by continuing to provide a quality 

service to our customers. Trans Switch Africa remains very 

well capitalized as at the year end.  

The Group has actively pursued our growth strategy to consolidate business process outsourcing 

businesses. We have employed more staff and are developing new software in Blue Saphire to 

support our Global currency Card initiative in Vivere.  

The operational results for the year were in line with expectations and operational expenses were 

reduced compared to the prior year. Despite the downward unrealized fair value movement of our 

investment portfolios  |kq^®s´kz· s{§^g®s|q ~| ®rk qª~¯§í« f~®®~{ line, no further impairment on 

goodwill was deemed necessary. Further details on our financial results can be seen as they are set 

out in the accompanying financial statements.  

We are very positive about the financial year ahead and the continued impleme ntation of our 

strategy to diversify our income base through several initiatives.  

DIRECTORATE  

Trans Switch Africa Holdings did not make any additions to the Board, with one resignation during 

the year, in agreement that we maintain an objective and diver sely skilled Board which 

conscientiously considers the needs of all our stakeholders. The joint wealth of experience of our 

Directors encourages constructive debate and assist s in providing  meaningful information to all 

stakeholders.  

IN CONCLUSION  

On behalf of the Board, thank you to all our stakeholders, specifically our Business Partners and 

Shareholders involved, for your contributions during the year.  
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As Chairman, I extend my appreciation to my fellow Directors, as well as Non - Executive Directors, 

for your commitment and meaningful contributions to the Groups affairs consistently throughout 

the 2022 year.  I look forward to continuing in my role as Chairman in the year ahead.  

 

 

Deva Marianen 

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD 

Date: 28 September 202 2 
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The Board of Directors  

The Board of directors comprises of Mr. Deva Marianen, Mr. Vaughan Heberden, Mr. Hendrik Petrus 

Barnhoorn and Mrs Kim Tracy Setzkorn. Mr. Junaid Udhin resigned as a Non -Executive Director of 

the Company on 8th February 2022. The Boar d has not appointed a CEO as the organization is a 

holding company and does not require a CEO for its functionalities.  

The Board of directors is a unitary Board, composed of four directors under the chairmanship of 

Mr. Deva Marianen. The Board ensures that it has the right balance of skills, experience, 

independence and business knowledge necessary to discharge its responsibilities. The Board of 

directors are aware of their legal duties. In line with the Code, all directors stand for re -election at 

the Annual Meeting of Shareholders. The Board is satisfied that it has discharged its responsibilities 

for the year in respect of its Corporate Governance accountabilities.  

The directors are aware that the Code recommends that each director should be elected (or r e- 

elected as the case may be) every year at the Annual Meeting of the Shareholders. However, at 

each Annual Meeting of the Company, one Director, who has been the longest in office since 

his/her appointment or last re -appointment, retires by rotation and is eligible for re -appointment, 

in compliance with the provisions set out in the Companies Act 2001.  

¶ All the current directors are under the age of 70 years.  

¶ Re-election of directors over the age of 70 years is made in compliance with section 138(6) 

of the Companies Act 2001.  

¶ Newly appointed directors go through a full induction process in order to become familiar 

µs®r ®rk +~{§^|·í« f¯«s|k«« k|´sª~|{k|® ^|i «k|s~ª {^|^qk{k|®Î  
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The Board of Directors External Profile 

Mr. Deva Marianen å Non-Executive Director  

Deva Marianen is the founder and the Chief Executive Officer of the 

SAFYR Group which is a well-established financial services group, 

headquartered in Mauritius. Deva is also the founder of Safyr Capital 

Partners, which is an investment banking institution licensed by the FSC 

in Mauritius and which specializes in asset management, corporate 

finance, and investment advisory servicing predominantly the African 

market. Through Safyr Capital, Deva has led more than USD 1 billion of 

deals in the form of structured debt, equity, trade finance, project finance 

in sectors such as healthcare, renewable energy, real estate and 

agriculture. Deva is an economist and a chartered secretary and 

administrator.  

Mr. Vaughan Heberden å Independent Non -Executive Director 

Vaughan holds BA and LLB qualifications and is a shareholder and 

director of Bellerive Corporate Management Services (Mauritius) Ltd, the 

Chairman of the Old Mutual US Dollar Money Market Fund, Director of 

Grindrod Mauritius Ltd and a member of the L isting Committee of the 

Stock Exchange of Mauritius. He was previously the CEO of Cim Group, 

a listed, diversified financial services group located in Mauritius with 

offices in Singapore, Australia, the UK and South Africa. The Cim Group 

included consumer finance, insurance, asset management, stock 

broking, technology and international administration services with a local 

and international institutional client base. Prior to relocating to Mauritius, 

he was Director, Southern & East Africa, of Barclays International & Private 

Banking, where he grew these operations to become two of the biggest 

contributors to the Barclays International and Private Banking businesses. 

He was CEO of Ansbacher South Africa, the Private Banking arm of FirstRand Bank Limited. Vaughan 

has in excess of 30 years in business, with significant experience at CEO, Director and Chairperson 

Level. 

Mr. Hendrik Petrus Barnhoorn å Independent Non -Executive Director  

Henk currently holds the position of Chief Operating Officer (COO) for 

Creation Group, ( www.creation -capital.com ) a South African regulated 

and licensed investment manager. Creation Capital is a Finance House 

with a pragmatic investment philosop hy specializing in Private Credit. He 

currently resides and work from the Netherlands.   

Henk previously worked as the Group Chief Financial Officer (CFO), since 

2008, for Geneva Management Group, which is a regulated and licensed 

multifaceted global financ ial services group, which operates in various 

jurisdictions, and spent the last two years based in the Switzerland office 

until he resigned in 2020.  

http://www.creation-capital.com/
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During his 12 years with the group, Henk served on all the key Boards including the Group Board, 

the Fund Management and Insurance divisions and took on the responsibilities for Group 

Compliance and Risk.  

Henk has many years of senior executive experience across various industries, including an New 

York Stock Exchange (NSE) listed entity, working in both the  USA and the Netherlands.   His focus 

has been on the Financial Industry, including listed (public) and privately -owned companies. He 

serves on several Boards and Audit Committees.   

Henk is a qualified Chartered Accountant, started his career with PWC in th e Netherlands and South 

Africa, and is a member of  South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA).   

He has a degree in Investment Management (B.Comm Hons) and holds an executive MBA from the 

Erasmus University, Rotterdam (the Netherlands). 

 Mrs. Kim Tracy Setzkorn å Independent Non -Executive Director  

Kim Setzkorn has been with Geneva Management Group, a 

multifaceted global financial services group, since 2008 .  In 2022, 

Geneva Management Group Trust Business was transferred to 

TrustQore.   Kim is based in the Mauritius offices and presently holds 

the position of Chief Operating Officer at TrustQore (Mauritius) Ltd . 

Kim holds LLB and BA degrees, both from the University of South 

Africa and after successfully completing the attorney admissions 

requi rements was admitted as an attorney of the High Court of 

South Africa in 2002. She started her career as a professional 

assistant at a general law practice in South Africa where she gained 

experience in diverse areas of the law, including drafting of corpo rate and commercial contracts 

and active participation in commercial and corporate arbitration and litigation matters. In 2004, and 

after deciding to leave legal practice, Kim joined Sentinel International Advisory Services (Pty) Ltd 

to specialize in trusts and corporate affairs as well as tax and structuring. At the time of leaving 

Sentinel in 2008, Kim had been appointed as legal counsel and was responsible for the overall 

management of a portfolio of high net worth clients (both domestic and foreign). Ki m is registered 

with the Law Society of the Northern Provinces on the roll of non -practicing attorneys .  
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External Directorships held  

NAME OF DIRECTORS NAME OF ORGANIZATION 

MR. HENDRIK PETRUS BARNHOON 

Trans Switch Africa Holdings Ltd,African Innovations Ltd, 
HEBA Consulting Ltd, MMP MPY LTD, Creation Europe B.V., 
Biscuit Palace (Pty) Ltd, Altvest Capital and  Creation Capital 
Investments (Pty) Ltd. 

MRS. KIM SETZKORN  Trans Switch Africa Holdings Ltd, AfriSwitch Ltd, Vivere 

Global Ltd , A.A Logistics Ltd, Advenco Holdings (Pty) Ltd, 

Afrosuez Investments Ltd, ARK Biotechnology Ltd, AV 

Technology Limited, Business Intelligence Solutions Ltd, 

CapitalN Africa Ltd, Capitelle Ltd, Cibecs International Ltd, 

Control Services Corp., Custody Investment Services Ltd, 

Denesta Limited, DNS Africa Ltd, TrustQore (BVI) Ltd, 

Global Equity Investments 1 Limited, Global Equity 

Investments 10 Limited, Global Equity Investments 11 

Limited, Global Equity Investments 12 Limited, Global 

Equity Investments 13 Limited, G lobal Equity Investments 

14 Limited, Global Equity Investments 15 Limited, Global 

Equity Investments 16 Limited, Global Equity Investments 

17 Limited, Global Equity Investments 18 Limited, Global 

Equity Investments 2 Limited, Global Equity Investments 3 

Limited, Global Equity Investments 4 Limited, Global 

Equity Investments 5 Limited, Global Equity Investments 6 

Limited, Global Equity Investments 7 Limited, Global 

Equity Investments 8 Limited, Global Equity Investments 9 

Limited, TrustQore (Mauritius) Ltd , Grouper Group Ltd, 

L'Eau D'Or Limited, Marix Ltd, Mauveland Holding 

Limited, Ninth BIT Limited, Quickbridge Mauritius 

Holdings Limited, Red Mango Holdings Ltd, Securities 

House Nominees Inc., Smile Telecoms Holdings Limited, 

Smile Telecoms IP Limited, Total Profit (HK) Limited, TPF 

International Limited, Voucher Activation Services Ltd, 

West African Plastics 1 (Wap1) Ltd, TrustQore Ltd . 

MR. VAUGHAN HEBERDEN Trans Switch Africa Holdings Ltd, Old Mutual US Dollar 

Money Market Fund Ltd, Old Mutual US Dollar 

Duration Fund Ltd, PSG Konsult (Mauritius) Ltd, 

Grindrod Mauritius Ltd. (and subsidiaries), Bellerive 

Corporate Management Services (Mauritius) Ltd, 

Grand Cap PCC Ltd, Bayport Management Ltd, SBM 

Factors Ltd, SBM Insurance Agency Ltd. 
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MR. DEVA MARIANEN  

Trans Switch Africa Holdings Ltd, Tadvest Limited, ICT 

Africa Ventures Ltd, It Novate Ltd, Safyr Africa Holdings 

Ltd, Safyr Utilis Fund Services Ltd, RegtecX Solutions 

Ltd, Safyr Utilis Corporate and Trust Services Ltd, Safyr 

Utilis Hold ings Ltd, Safyr Group Holdings Ltd, Safyr 

International Ltd, Safyr Capital Partners Ltd, Safyr Utilis 

Nominees Ltd, Safefin Management Services Ltd.  
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Trans Switch Africa Holdings Limited  

Trans Switch Africa Holdings is an investment holding Company established to grow a diverse 

portfolio of investments in its identified markets. The net asset value of Trans Switch Africa Holdings 

at the end of the financial year was USD 14 million. Trans Switch Africa Holdings is in the process of 

diversifying its asset base. The major investments of Trans Switch Africa Holdings consist of:  

- Subsidiary companies: AfriSwitch Ltd, Blue Saphire S.A. and Vivere Global Ltd;  

- Investment Portfolio;  

- Cash and Working Capital.  

OBJECTIVE 

To seek out and invest in carefully selected opport unities, targeting African and other global clients 

showing a high growth potential not only in their existing client base, but also from a perspective of 

leveraging their serv ices into new customers and markets.  

The intention and strategy is to invest in, and act as a catalyst in the consolidation of niche business 

providing managed outsourced account hosting, electronic transaction processing and ancillary 

services, which includes secure identity management, to the financial services industry. The 

opportunity is presented through a growing need to provide accessible banking and financial 

services to consumers globally. The opportunity for Trans Switch Africa Holdings is to inv est in 

businesses that provide turnkey services to Banks and Financial Institutions where there is a need to 

provide such services through the appropriate infrastructure and back -end/process.  

Prk +~{§^|·í« «®ª^®kq· s« ®~ g~|«~zsi^®k {¯z®s§zk §z^·kª« p~g¯«ing on solution based platforms, 

back-end infrastructure and payment processing for banking and non -banking businesses and to 

provide a bespoke service through a single platform to the end customer.  

Through its carefully selective investments into such co mpanies, showing high potential for growth 

of client base and the improvement of processes and services to their selected customer base, the 

Company intends to grow into a significant Software as a Service (SAAS) financial services provider 

within the next  3 to 5 years.  

  

17%
22%

61%

7%

26%

67%

Cash and Working Capital Net Investment  Subsidiaries Financial Assts Assets

Total Asset Value Breakdown (%)

2021 2022
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AfriSwitch Limited  

AfriSwitch Ltd specializes in providing turnkey bespoke solutions to the banking, retail and 

corporate industry, relating to any form of electronic transaction processing and account hosting 

services. The spectrum and range of AfriSwitch service offerings are listed below:  

 

 

AfriSwitch continues to explore new ways to expand its innovative service offerings to its customers, 

focusing on flexibility, security, compliancy and most importantly the specific requirements of its 

customers, keeping within the f ramework of the regulations of Central Banks and the Card 

"««~gs^®s~|«Î "pªsNµs®grí« k¶§kª®s«kÏ k¶§kªsk|gk ^|i §ª~pk««s~|^z ^i´sgk µszz k|«¯ªk ®r^® s®« gzsk|®« 

not only have the ability to compete on an equal footing (from a technological, switching, 

settlement, clearing and infrastructure perspective) with any of the international banks, but also to 

s{§ª~´k ~| «~{k ~p ®rksª §ª~i¯g® ^|i «kª´sgk ~ppkªs|q« s| ®rk {^ªyk®§z^gkÎ "pªsNµs®grí« rsqr ´~z¯{k 

payment gateway connects its clients with the global bankin g community for card processing, 

authorization and settlement. They are market leaders for independent online payment processing, 

as well as providing turnkey solutions to retail banks who understand the cost benefit of not having 

to develop and maintain t heir own retail -banking platform, rather choosing to outsource these 

services to a competent service provider. It is expected that potential future acquisition targets will 

be integrated into the Trans Switch Africa Holdings Group. The Company will seek to  capitalize on 

its existing know-how and networks that it has access to with the view of potential revenue growth.  
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Vivere Global  Ltd 

OVERVIEW 

Vivere is developing a Global Multi Currency Card solution , which includes the creation of a fully 

integrated and highly developed website  and mobile application , from which the product will 

operate  from, loading wallets to making payments and transfers allowing users to manage from 

their finances.  

A global multi -curre|g· ~ppkªs|q ìVs´kªkí s« s| ik´kz~§{k|® «®^qk µs®r ®rk p~zz~µs|q ¯«k« s| {s|iÐ  

-  Pre-funded Travel card  

-  International remittances  

-  Bespoke programmes  

-  E/Commerce usage  

KEY FEATURES OF THE GLOBAL CURRENCY OFFERING: 

- The Vivere Global Multi -Currency card will  be accepted across the world at relevant merchants. 

- Purchases and ATM withdrawals can be made anywhere across the globe.  

- Multiple currencies can be loaded onto a single card  with a hunting facility . 

- Prk g^ªi ~ppkª« k|r^|gki «kg¯ªs®· ®rª~¯qr J7@í« ^|i BPJí«. 

- The solution  will be supported by a 24/7 call centre. 

- The website and Mobile application offer full control of the card use and management.  

- The card can be blocked or cancelled on the website or mobile application adding additional 

security. 

- The card allows the user to lock in exchange rates and avoid currency conversion fees.  

- Reloads can be done at anytime, anywhere in the world.  

- Real-time transfers between wallets ; and 

- Virtual cards. 
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 Blue Saphire S.A. 

Blue Saphire indirectly through its Intellectual Property provides innovative service offerings, 

focusing on flexibility, security, compliancy and most importantly the specific customer 

requirements, keeping within the framework of the regulations of Centra l Banks and the Card 

Associations.  

OVERVIEW 

Blue Saphire, independently, through its Intellectual Property connects clients with the global 

banking community. The software involves online payment processing, as well as providing turnkey 

solutions to retail banks who understand the cost benefit of not having to develop and maintain 

their own retail -banking platform, rather choosing to outsource these services to a competent 

service provider.  

DESCRIPTION OF SOFTWARE  

- Comprehensive Retail and Corporate Banking Solution.  

- File management system to receive batch files from various sources.  

- Fraud Management System (Comprehensive fraud system that monitors all card -based 

transactions according to the rules of the card associations).  

- Interactive Voice Recognition (IVR) provides a secure method of call centre interaction between 

the client and retail banking system for PIN management.  

- E-Commerce payments gateway (Gatew ay for on-line shopping enables merchants to provide 

a channel to sell goods and services via the internet).  

COMPREHENSIVE RETAIL AND CORPORATE BANKING SOLUTION  

- The Comprehensive Retail and Corporate Banking Solution focuses on account hosting for a 

variety of products built to specific country and customer requirements.  

- The core system provides unparalleled scalability and resilience while our product offering is 

enriched with a new way of thinking when it comes to banking. Although security, compliance  

and the protection of customer data forms an integral part of the system, flexibility in the design 

was not compromised.  

- The system is designed for all financial institutions.  

- The use of an internet browser front -end makes access easy and relatively inexpensive.  

- The retail functionality provides the full spectrum of banking from the front office through to the 

back office.  

- Validation of input for accuracy and completeness is ensured by rules and special validation on 

both the front end and the back end  and provides a complete audit trail.  
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- A modular approach in the design of the comprehensive system separates functions such as 

interest calculation, fee structures, the transaction processor, and other processes from the 

product itself, making the definit ion of the product and its characteristics a mere combination 

of the modules.  

THE FOLLOWING MODULES ARE AVAILABLE:  

- Account application and Client Information File (CIF).  

- The product and client rule module.  

- The transaction processor.  

- The fee calculator.  

- The interest calculator.  

- The reporting and administrative module.  

- The client communication module.  

- The batch task processor.  

- The Product Builder (easy setup of new products).  

- The Knowledge Builder (onlin e training manual).  

THE FOLLOWING PRODUCTS ARE CURRENTLY AVAILABLE:  

 

- Debit/Credit Card (magstripe and chip) .  

- Corporate Debit/Credit Card.  

- Savings accounts.  

- Fixed deposits.  

- Notice deposits.  

- Short and Long -Term Investments.  

- Corporate Investments.  

- Call Accounts.  

- Personal Loans.  

- Home loans.  

- Gift Cards. 

- Corporate Purchase Cards.  

- Business Banking.  

- Global Multi -Currency Card  

THE FILE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM has been developed to receive data files from any source in 

various formats and to validate the contents of these files according to specified criteria and deliver 

the files according to specified criteria and deliver the files in a format acceptable to the banking 

industry to invoke the tr ansfer of funds.  
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FRAUD MANAGEMENT SYSTEM monitors all card -based transactions according to the rules as 

defined by the Card Associations.  These rules determine card usage to identify possible fraudulent 

transactions and to report on these for immediate a ctioning.   

The events that are identified for investigation use specific criteria and the system currently caters 

for more than 20 different scenarios to detect possible fraudulent or suspicious transactions.  

Prk f^|yí« pª^¯i ik§^ª®{k|® g^| ¯«k ®rs« p¯|gtion to identify possible fraudulent transactions and 

to engage with the client to determine the validity thereof.  The system enables the bank to stop a 

card if fraudulent action is suspected.  

INTERACTIVE VOICE RECOGNITION providing a secure method of ca ll centre to back -end 

interaction between the client and the retail banking system for the use of PIN selection and PIN 

changes.  

AN E-COMMERCE PAYMENTS GATEWAY for on -line shopping which enables merchants to 

provide a channel to sell goods or services via the internet with cards of the various Card 

associations, including both Visa and MasterCard.  
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Financial Review 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS:  

REVENUE  

The Trans Switch Africa Holdings Group recorded a slight increase in revenue from services in the 

current financial year, as well as dividends income on the direct equity portfolio investment s.  

However, the unrealized fair value loss on the investment portfolio  of USD 2,9m was significant, and 

a direct result of the downward turn in global equity markets during the second half of the current 

financial year. The total income decreased to (USD 2,4m) compared to USD 1,7m in 2021.  

EXPENSES  

Expenditure decreased by USD 3,3m compared to 2021. This is almost all attributable to the USD 

3,2m impairment of goodwill taken in the prior year. Excluding the impairment  of goodwill , 

expenditure was reduced by USD 0.09m as a result of savings made on market research. 

LOSS BEFORE TAX  

Trans Switch Africa Holdings achieved a loss before tax of some USD 3m compared to the previous 

·k^ªí« z~«« ~p QN- ÀÏÀ{Î Prk s|gªk^«k µ^« ^« ^ ªk«¯z® ~p the fair value loss on the investment portfolio 

in the current financial year as noted above.  

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION:  

Total assets decreased to USD 14,4m by USD 2,8m compared to 2021. This was directly as a result 

of the fair value adjustment  of the investment portfolio by USD  2,9m.  

Trans Switch Africa maintains a strong balance sheet with virtually no debt outstanding and will 

continually actively pursue acquisition opportunities as a driver of shareholder value creation.  

DIVIDEND:  

No dividend was declared nor recommended as our strategy is to preserve cash for our 

operations and future expan sion.  

 



 

  



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
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Corporate Governance  

1. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

Mr. Vaughan Heberden (Chairperson), Mr. Deva Marianen and Mrs. Kim Tracy Setzkorn serve 

as Members of the Corporate Governance Committee.  This committee is responsible for the 

^irkªk|gk ®~ ®rk ªk©¯sªk{k|®« ~p «~¯|i g~ª§~ª^®k q~´kª|^|gkÏ ®rk g~{§^|·í« §~zsg· ~| 

remuneration, m easuring the performance of the Executive committee and non -executive 

directors, the remuneration of non -executive directors, the appointment and induction of new 

directors, and ensuring that the right balance of skills expertise and independence is 

maintained on the board.  

Prª~¯qr ®rk µ~ªy ~p ®rk g~{{s®®kkÏ ®rk *~^ªi k|«¯ªk« ®r^® ®rk g~{§^|·í« §kªp~ª{^|gk ^|i 

interaction with stakeholders are guided by its constitution, and that the impact of its businesses 

on the environment, society and the economy is re gularly assessed and considered. The 

g~{{s®®kk s« ^««k««ki ^||¯^zz· ®~ k|«¯ªk ®rk g~{§^|·í« ^irkªk|gk ®~ g~ª§~ª^®k gs®sºk|«rs§ 

principles and ethical performance.  

2. COMPANY SECRETARY 

Safyr Utilis Corporate and Trust Services Ltd is the company secretary. They provide the Board 

and the directors with detailed guidance and advice as to the proper discharge of duties with 

ªkq^ªi« ®~ ®rk §ªk´^szs|q zkqs«z^®s~| s| ?^¯ªs®s¯«Î Prk g~{§^|· «kgªk®^ª·í« §kªp~ª{^|gk s« 

subject to evaluation in line with the Board evalua tion. The Company Secretary maintains an 

Interests Register and is available for consultation by shareholders upon written request to the 

Company Secretary. 

3. INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 

The members of this committee are Mr.  Vaughan Heberden and Mr.  Deva Marianen . The 

g~{§^|·í« s|´k«®{k|® g~{{s®®kk {kk®« µrk| |kgk««^ª· ®~ g~|«sikª ®rk g~{§^|·í« s|´k«®{k|® 

policy and to assess and identify the investment opportunities, and to make recommendations 

to the board.    

Prk *~^ªi ik®kª{s|k« ®rk g~{{s®®kkí« ^¯®r~ªs®· zk´kz. The Investment committee meetings are 

held on an ad hoc basis, as and when necessary, for evaluation and consideration of potential 

investments. 

4. RISK AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The members of this committee are Mr. Hendrik Petrus Barnhoorn as the Chairperson an d Mr. 

Deva Marianen. The Board has established the committee to ensure the financial and risk 

governance of the company. Other individuals holding a senior position in the company as well 

as external auditors are welcome to attend the committee meetings as  invitees where 

appropriate.  

Prk g~{{s®®kkí« §ªs{^ª· {^|i^®k s|gz¯ik« k´^z¯^®s|q ®rk «·«®k{« ~p s|®kª|^z ps|^|gs^z ^|i 

operational control and accounting policies, reviewing the publication of financial information, 

recommending the appointment, terms of engagement and remuneration of  the external 
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auditors, and ensuring the independence of the external auditors. The committee also reviews 

®rk g~{§^|·í« gªs®sg^z f¯«s|k««Ï ~§kª^®s~|^zÏ ps|^|gs^z ^|i g~{§zs^|gk k¶§~«¯ªk« ^|i 

sustainability issues. 

Prk g~{{s®®kkí« ª~zk s| ªs«y {^|^qk{k|® ss to set the process for the identification and 

management of risk, report any significant risks to the Board, review corporate governance 

guidelines and their implementation and review and approve group insurance policies.  

The committee reports annually a t the annual meeting on how it has discharged its duties 

during the financial year reported.  

The following is a guideline of the various tasks of the sub -committees of the audit and risk 

committee.  

Internal control and internal audit  Risk Management 

¶ Mk´skµ ®rk s|®kª|^z ^¯is® p¯|g®s~|í« 

compliance with its mandate as 

approved by the Audit and Risk 

Management Committee;  

¶ Review  the  effectiveness  of  the 

+~{§^|·í« «·«®k{« ~p s|®kª|^z 

control, including internal financial 

control and business risk 

management and maintaining 

effective internal control systems;  

¶ Review and approve the internal audit 

charter, internal audit plans and 

s|®kª|^z ^¯is®í« g~|gz¯«s~|« µs®r 

regard to internal      control and risk 

management;  

¶ Review the adequacy of corrective 

action taken in response to significant 

internal audit findings;  

 

 

¶ Review and assess the integrity of 

the risk control systems and ensure 

that the  risk  policies and strategies 

are effectively managed;  

¶ Outline    the    scope    of    risk 

management work;  

¶ Review executive management 

reports detailing the adequacy and 

overall effectiveness of the 

+~{§^|·í« ªs«y {^|^qk{k|® 

function and its implementation by 

management;  

¶ Review risk identification and 

measurement methodologies.  
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Ethics, Health, Safety and Environment Compliance, Whistleblower  

¶ Review statements on ethical 

standards or requirements for the 

Company and assisting in 

developing such standards and 

requirements;  

¶ Give   recommendations   on   any 

potential conflict of interest or 

questionable situations of a material 

nature;  

¶ Review the development and   

implementation of health, safety 

and environmental practices to 

comply with existing legislative and 

regulatory frameworks.  

¶ Mk´skµ ®rk +~{§^|·í« §ª~gki¯ªk« 

for detecting fraud;  

¶ Mk´skµ ®rk +~{§^|·í« «·«®k{« ^|i 

controls for the prevention of bribery 

and receive reports on non - 

compliance.  

 

4.1 Appointment of the External Auditor:  

Following the amendments brought by the Financial Reporting Act in September 2016, where 

an audit firm has audited the accounts of a listed company for a continuous period of time as is, 

as at 7 September 2016, auditing the accounts of that company subject  to such conditions and 

for such time as may be prescribed. Since the conditions mentioned above have not yet been 

prescribed by the Authorities, the Board of directors of Trans Switch has recommended to the 

Shareholders the automatic appointment and the r e-appointment of BDO&CO as auditors of 

Pª^|« Nµs®gr p~ª ®rk ·k^ª k|is|q Á¾ <¯|k À¾ÀÁÎ *-B ĉ +~ ^g®« ^« ®rk 5ª~¯§í« k¶®kª|^z ^¯is®~ª 

and has been appointed since 29 November 2017.  
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The Audit and Risk Committee major responsibilities:  

Auditors and external audit Financial Reporting, Reporting 

and Accountability 

¶ Consider and make 

recommendations to the Board for 

the appointment, re -appointment 

^|i ªk{~´^z ~p ®rk g~{§^|·í« 

external auditor;  

¶ Evaluate the independence and 

effectiveness of the external auditor, 

determine its remuneration and 

terms of engagement;  

¶ Discuss and review, with the external 

auditor the engagement letter, audit 

plan, terms, nature and scope of the 

audit function, procedure and 

engage ment and audit fee;  

¶ Meet privately with the external 

auditors at least once a year without 

the presence of senior management.  

¶ Review significant accounting and 

reporting issues and understand their 

impact on the financial statements;  

¶ Review the annual financial statements, 

prior to submission and approval by the 

Board and assess whether the financial 

statements reflect appropriate 

accounting principles;  

¶ Meet with management and the external 

auditors to review the financial statements 

and the results of the audit;  

¶ To account to the Board for its activities 

and make recommendations concerning 

the adoption of the annual and interim 

financial statements and any area within 

its remit where action or improvement is 

needed.  

4.2 Assessment of the effectiveness of the external audit process  

The Audit and Risk Committee has the responsibili ty to have a proper assessment of the 

effectiveness of the external audit process as set out in the Audit and Risk Committee charter.  

An extract of the charter pertaining to  same is as follows: 

The committee shall: 

1.1.1 Consider and make recommendations to the Board, to be put t o  shareholders for 

approval at the Annual Meeting, in relation to the appointment, re-appointment and 

removal of the Companyí« external auditor; 

1.1.2 Ensure that at least once every seven years the audit services contract is put out to 

tender  to enable the committee to compare the quality and effective ness of the 

services provided by the incumbent auditor with those of other audit firms; and in 

respect of such tender  oversee the selection duration of the tender ing process.  

 Several firms should be screened and the  committee should ob tain written or 

verbal proposals to enable it to arrive at its recommendation. 

1.1.4 If an auditor resigns, investigate the issues leading to this and decide whether any 

action is required.  
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1.1.4 Oversee the relationship with the external auditor including (but not limited to):  

1.1.4.1 Recommendations on their remuner ation, including fees for audit, and that 

the level of fees is appropriate to enable an effective and high-quality audit 

to be conducted; 

1.1.4.2 App roval of their terms of engagement, including any engagement letter  

issued at the start of each audit and the scope of the audit; 

1.1.4.3 Assessing annually their independence and objectivity considering relevant 

professional and regulatory requirements and the relationship with the 

auditor as a whole; and 

1.1.4.4 Satisfying itself that there are no relationships (such as family, employment, 

investment, financial or business) between the auditor and the organisation 

(other than in the ordinary course of business) which could adversely affect 

the auditoªí« independence and objectivity. 

5. BOARD MEETINGS 

The Board of directors conduct Board meet ings to examine all statutory matters, to 

provide strateg ic direction to the Company and its under lying investments and to ensure 

that the Company reaches its targeted  growth in its Net Asset Value and consequently grow th 

in both yield and share price. Regular meet ings of the Board are held to discuss and review 

the performance and day-to-day functioning of the Company and its investments. The Board 

meetings are carried out in an environment which promotes constructive feed back from all 

memb er«í and which also encourages open discussions. The Chairman together with the 

Company Secretary decide on the meet ing agendas.  

The directors are aware of their duty to attend each Board meeting unless on exceptional 

circumstances. The below table sets out the number of meetings attended  by the directors for 

the period from 01July 2021 to 30 June 2022: 

No of Meetings held  
Board 

Meeting  

Risk and 

 Audit 

Committee  

Corporate 

Governance 

Committee  

Investment 

Committee  

Ca tego ry Direct ors     

Non -Executi ve Direct or Deva  Marian en  4 4 1 - 

Indepen dent Non -

Executi ve 

Direct or 

Vaugha n Heberden  4 - 1 - 

Indepen dent Non -

Executi ve Direct or 

Hendrik Petrus 

Barnhoorn  
4 4 - - 

Non -Executi ve Direct or Junaid Udhin  2 - - - 

Non -Executive Director  Kim Tracy Setzkorn  4 - 1 - 
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6. BOARD APPRAISAL 

The Board of directors resolved that Board appraisal shall be conducted  every 1-2 years by 

the Company. The boaªií« appraisal date has not been set yet. 

¶ The reason why 1-2 years have been chosen as the time frame is because it will enable 

the company to manage the ongoi ng improvements in the governance matters. 

¶ The Board has the capacity to determ ine its size and composition. 

7. BOARD CHARTER 

The Board has adopted  a charter on 01 December 2021.  

8. COMPANY PROFILE 

The Company, having File Number C137962, was incorporated on 21 April 2016. The 

Company holds a Global Business License with License Number C106003255 from the 

Financial Services Commission. The Company is a Public Company Limi ted by shares. The 

Registered addr ess of the Company is C/o Safyr Utilis Corporate and Trust Services Ltd, 7th 

Floor, Tower 1, NeXTeracom, Cybercity, Ebene, Republic of Mauritius. The Company is a listed 

entity on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius. 

9. +B?J"@YíN +B@NP7PQP7B@ 

The Constitution of the Company was adopted on 20 July 2016 which is in line with the 

Companies Act 2001.  

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

¶ The related  party transactions have been set out in note 24 in the Financial Statements of 

the Company. 

¶ Shareholders will also be apprised of related  party transactions through the issue of 

circulars and press releases by the Company in compliance with the Listing Rules of the 

Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd. 

11. CODE OF ETHICS 

The Board has adopted a code of ethics on 1 st December 2021.  

12. -7M/+PBMíN REMUNERATION 

Pª^|« Nµs®grí« g~|«®s®¯®s~| g~|pkª« ¯§~| ®rk *~^ªi ®rk §~µkª ®~ ps¶ isªkg®~ªí« k{~z¯{k|®« ^|i 

reward in alignment with their individual as well as joint contribution towards the achievement 

~p ®rk g~{§^|·í« ~fxkg®s´k ^|i §kªp~ª{^|gkÏ µrsz«® g~nsidering the current market conditions 

^|i g~{§^|·í« ps|^|gs^z §kªp~ª{^|gkÎ -sªkg®~ª« ^ªk ªk{¯|kª^®ki p~ª ®rksª y|~µzkiqkÏ 

experience and insight given to the Board and Committees.  
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Any director who is in full time employment with Trans Switch does not re ceive any additional 

remuneration for sitting on the board. To be noted that there is no director approaching 

retirement.  

The non-executive directors have not received remuneration in the form of share options or 

bonuses associated with organizational performance.  

 

13. RISK GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 

The Board is responsible for the system of internal control and risk management of the Group 

and its subsidiaries. The Board is committed  to continuously maintain adequate internal 

control procedures with a view to safeguard the assets of the Group. 

The Board has instructed  Management to continuously implement and maintain adequate 

and effective internal controls and also ensure that the processes and systems used are 

operating satisfactorily. The Board der ives assurance that the internal control systems are 

effective through the  management of the company and for potential subsidiaries who will be 

appraised regu larly in respect of performance and operations and also through the Internal 

Audit Function in accordance with their internal audit plan. 

Over the financial year, the members of the Committee recommended  that an internal Control 

Policy and Framework be implemented. The policy stresses on the importance of the 

following: 

- Responsibili ties of entities of the Group to ensure adequacy and regular monitoring of the 

Internal Control System within their business operations; 

- How the internal control is operated at all levels of the Group and is embedded  in its daily 

activities; 

- The independent assessment of the internal control environment by the Internal Audit 

division of Trans Switch, as the Third Line of defense; and 

- The assessment of the information, information technology and information security policy 

in place. 

 

 

Name of Directors 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

 USD USD USD USD       USD 

Vaughan Heberden  10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 

Deva Marianen 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 

Hendrik Petrus Barnhoorn 10,000 10,000 

10,000 

(*2,000 å other 

services) 

10,000 

(*2,000 å other 

services) 

10,000 

Kim Tracy Setzkorn - - 10,000 10,000 10,000 

Junaid Udhin  - - - 1,200 - 
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14. SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS 

It will be the policy of Trans Switch Africa to meet regu larly with institutional shareholders, 

private investors and investment analysts for discussion on the performance and management 

of the company and it shall promote a stakeholder inclusive approach. 

The Board appreciates that shareholder«í perceptions affect the companyí« reputat ion and, in 

this regard, will establish policy for the engagement of the companyí« stakeholders.  

The Board will encourage shareholders to attend annual meetings through effective 

communication whether by means of the press or otherwise. 

Key Shareholders & Significant percentage shareholdings  

The table below discloses the list of major shareholders of the Company and the relative 

number of Ord inary Shares held by them as at 30 June 2022: 

Name of Shareholde rs Total number of shares Percentage of holdings 

IT Novate Ltd 21,999,000 99.99% 

Ian Setzkorn 1,000 0.01% 

 

15. NP"P/?/@P B4 -7M/+PBMíN M/NJB@N7*7>7P7/N 7@ M/NJ/+P B4 47@"@+7"> NP"P/?/@PN 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year, which 

present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash flow of the Company.  

In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to: 

- select suitable accounting policies and then appl y them consistently; 

- make judgme nts and estimates that are reasonabl e and prudent; 

- state whether there has been compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards; 

- prepare the financial statements on a goi ng-concern basis unless it is inapp ropriate to 

presume that the Company will continue in business; and 

- ensure that the Code of Corporate Governance has been adhered  to and in case of 

non- compliance, reason has been provided  accordingly. 

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the 

+~{§^|·í« ps|^|gs^z «®^®k{k|®«Î Prk k¶®kª|^z ^¯is®~ª« ^ªk ªk«§~|«sfzk p~ª reporting on whether 

the financial statements are fairly presented.  

       The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with 

reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Company at any time and enable them to 

ensure that the financial statements comply with The Companies Act 2001.  They are also 

responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable 

steps to prevent and detect fraud and other irregul arities. 
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The Board is responsible for the system of internal control and risk management for the 

Company and its subsidiaries.    

The Board is committed to continuously maintain a sound system of risk management and 

adequate control procedures with a view to safeguarding the assets of the Group. 

The Board believes that the Groupí« systems of internal control and risk management provide 

reasonable assurance that control and risk issues are identified, reported  on and dealt with 

appropriately.  

Trans Switch is serviced with internal audit services in accordance with the terms of the 

management contract which the Company has with Safyr Utilis Fund Services Ltd. 

Nothing has come to the Boaªií« attention, to indicate any material breakdown  in the 

functioning of the internal controls and systems during the period under review, which could 

have a material impact on the business. The financial statements are prepared from the 

accounting records on the basis of consistent use of appropriate accounting policies 

supp orted by reasonable and prudent judgme nts and estimates that fairly present the state 

of affairs of the Group and the Company. 

16. REQUIREMENTS FOR A LISTED COMPANY 

A public interest entity (êPIEëÞ is def ined as follows: 

1.   Entities listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius 

2.  Financial institutions regulated  by the Financial Services Commission, from the following 

categories: 

a. Insurance companies other than companies conducting external insurance business, 

licensed under  the Insurance Act; 

b. Collective investment schemes Ýê+ISë) and closed-end funds, registered as reporting 

issuers under  the Securities Act; 

c. CIS managers and custodian licensed under the Securities Act. 

3.  Any company which has, during 2 consecutive preceding years, at least 1 of the following: 

a. An annual turnover exceeding 500 million rupees;  

b. Total assets value exceeding 500 million rupees;  

4 Any Group Company which has, during 2 consecutive preceding years, at least 1 of the 

following: 

a. An annual turnover exceeding one billion rupees;  

b. Total assets value exceeding one billion rupees;  
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17. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

The above is a reflection of the Corporate Governance framework  that has been put in place by 

the Corporate Governance Committee. 

The following sets out the Statement of Compliance to Code (Section 75 (3) of the Financial 

Reporting Act) which is required to be included in this Corporate Governance Report for Trans 

Switch as a PIE. 
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Statement of Compliance to Code  

(SECTION 75 (3) OF THE FINANCIAL REPORTING ACT) 

 

Name of Public Interest Entity (ìPIEíÞÐ  Trans Switch Africa Holdings Ltd  

Reporting Period:   1 July 2021 to  30 June 2022 

For the year under review, We, the directors of Trans Switch Africa Ltd, confirm that the company 

has complied with the Code of Corporate Governance of Mauritius in most respects, save that: 

Principle 2: The structure of the Board and its committees  

The title, function and role of the chairperson should be separate from that of the CEO.  

 

The Board of directors has advised that the reason why the role of the chairperson is not separate 

from that of the CEO is because as the Company is a holding company, the latter does not require a 

CEO for its functionalities for the time being.  The Board will consider the appointment of a CEO 

in the event that the Company requires one for its functioning . 

Principle 5: Risk Governance and Internal Control  

Report on whistle-blowing rules and procedures.  

 

The Board of directors has advised that as the Company has only one active major subsidiary, with 

a small §ª~pk««s~|^z ®k^{Ï ^« ^® ®~i^·í« i^®kÏ s® s|®k|i« ®~ ik´kz~§ ª~f¯«® µrs«®zk-blowing rules and 

procedures as soon as it develops further, either through growth or acquisition, and intends to 

develop this in future reporting periods. The Board will also cons ider the implementation of an 

internal control policy framework.  

Principle 6: Reporting with integrity  

Statement that the annual report is published in full on the organisations website.  

 

As disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report, the Company does n ot have a website as at 

®~i^·í« i^®k ^|i ^zz «¯gr s|p~ª{^®s~| s« ^´^sz^fzk ^® ®rk ªkqs«®kªki ~ppsgkÎ 

 
 
 
Vaughan Heberden  
Chairperson   
 
Date: 28 September 2022      
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Statement of Compliance  

As confirmed in the Corporate Governance statement which p~ª{ki §^ª® ~p ®rk +~{§^|·í« zs«®s|q 

§^ª®sg¯z^ª« ~p <^|¯^ª· À¾¿ÆÏ Pª^|« Nµs®gr "pªsg^ 6~zis|q« >®i Ý6kªks|^p®kª êPª^|« Nµs®grëÞ s« p¯zz· 

committed to complying with The Report on Corporate Governance for Mauritius. Trans Switch was 

listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius on the 6th of February 2018.  

The directors recognize the need to conduct the enterprise with integrity and in accordance with 

generally accepted corporate governance practices. This includes timely, relevant and meaningful 

reporting to sh areholders and all other stakeholders and providing a proper and objective 

perspective of the company and its activities. The Board strives to ensure that the group is ethically 

managed according to prudently determined risk parameters and corporate govern ance principles. 

In addition, the Board has established a set of criteria for the selection of prospective directors in 

view of the needs and strategic orientations of the company, alongside considering gender diversity.  

The Board has established controls and procedures to ensure enhanced accuracy and integrity of 

accounting records, and to ensure that assets are safeguarded. This also ensures that financial 

statements may be relied upon for maintaining accountability. These mechanisms and policies are 

reviewed regularly.  

Prk isªkg®~ª« r^´k §zk^«¯ªk s| «¯f{s®®s|q ®rk +~{§^|·í« ªk§~ª® ~| g~ª§~ª^®k q~´kª|^|gkÎ Prs« 

report describes the main corporate governance framework and compliance of the Company with 

the disclosures required under the  +~ik ~p +~ª§~ª^®k 5~´kª|^|gk p~ª ?^¯ªs®s¯« ÝìPrk +~ikíÞÎ 

Reasons for non-compliance are provided in the Corporate Governance Report, where applicable.  

In respect of the requirements for a website, the organization being a holding company is not 

required t o have a website. 

The Board has established a number of committees to give detailed attention to certain of its 

responsibilities and which operate within defined, written terms of reference. As such, certain 

functions have been delegated to the Risk and Au dit, Corporate Governance and Investment 

Committees.  

The Board is conscious of the fact that such delegation of duties is not an abdication of the Board 

{k{fkªí« ªk«§~|«sfszs®sk«Î Prk *~^ªi ^««¯{k« ªk«§~|«sfszs®· p~ª zk^is|q ^|i g~|®ª~zzs|q ®rk 

organization and meeting all legal and regulatory requirements.  

Prk ´^ªs~¯« g~{{s®®kk«í ®kª{« ~p ªkpkªk|gk ^ªk ªk´skµki ^||¯^zz·Î Prk isªkg®~ª« p~zz~µ ®rk §ªs|gs§zk« 

of the model code on securities transactions by directors as detailed in Appendix 6 of the Mauritius  

Stock Exchange Listing Rules. 
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Corporate Information  

  

Date 

appointed  

 

Date  

resigned  

     
DIRECTORS Deva Marianen 21-Apr-16  - 

 

Edward Vaughan Heberden  01-Jul-16 

 

- 

 

Hendrik Petrus Barnhoorn  21-Oct-16 

 

- 

 

Kim Tracy Setzkom 25-Feb-20 

 

- 

 

Junaid Muhamud Udhin  23-Sep-20 

 

08-Feb-22 

ADMINISTRATOR 

AND SECRETARY 

Safyr Utilis Corporate and Trust Services Ltd 

7th Floor, Tower 1, NeXTeracom    

  Cybercity  
  

 
 

Ebene 
  

 
 

Republic of Mauritius  
  

 
    

 

REGISTERED OFFICE C/o Safyr Utilis Corporate and Trust Services Ltd 

 
7th Floor, Tower 1, NeXTeracom  

   

 Cybercity     

 Ebene    

 
Republic of Mauritius  

   

     

     

AUDITORS BDO & Co 

   

 
10, Frere Felix De Valois Street 

   

 Port Louis    

 Republic of Mauritius     
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Commentary of Directors  

The directors present their commentary, together with the audited financial statements of Trans 

Switch Africa Holdings Ltd (the ''Company") and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 

''Group'') for the year ended 30 June 2022.       

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY           

The principal activity of the Company is to act as an investment holding Company with a view to 

take strategic positions in certain targeted companies who plays a key role in servicing both the 

financial and non -financial sector within Sub -Saharan Africa.   

The principal activity of the subsidiaries is to act as an investment holding company, verificat ion 

services and to hold the intellectual property rights to certain software used in the financial services 

industry (Note 6).         

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS          

The results for the year ended are as shown in the statements of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, and related notes.        

The directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for the year under review (2021: Nil).   

DIRECTORS          

The directors in office during the period were as stated on page 39.    

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Prk +~{§^|·í« isªkg®~ª« ^ªk ªk«§~|«sfzk p~ª ®rk §ªk§^ª^®s~| ^|i p^sª §ªk«k|®^®s~| ~p ®rk ps|^|gs^z 

statements of the Company and the Group, comprising of the separate financial statements of the 

Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group. These financial statements 

comprise of the statements of financial position  as at 30 June 2022, the statements of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income, the statements of changes in equity and stateme nts of cash flows 

for the period then ended and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards and Companies Act 2021. Prk isªkg®~ª«í ªk«§~|«sfszs®sk« s|gz¯ik;- 

designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whet her due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 

policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.   

      

Prk isªkg®~ª« r^´k {^ik ^| ^««k««{k|® ~p ®rk +~{§^|·ó« ^|i ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ^fszs®· ®~ continue as a 

going concern and have no reason to believe the business will not be a going concern in the year 

ahead.         
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AUDITORS         

The auditors, BDO & Co, have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution 

concerning thei r re-appointment will be proposed at the Annual Meeting of the shareholders.   

By order of the board          

   

 

Deva Marianen 
Director          

Date: 28 September 2022         
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Secretary Certificate 

UNDER SECTION 166 (d) OF THE MAURITIUS COMPANIES ACT 2001 

 

 

      

We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the Company has filled with the Registrar of 

Companies all such returns as are required of the Company under the Mauritius Companies Act 

2001, for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.  

 

 

        
 

  

SAFYR UTILIS CORPORATE AND TRUST SERVICES LTD   
Company Secretary      
 

 

      

Date: 28 September 2022  
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Independent Auditors Report  

Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate  Financial Statements 

Opinion  

 We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Trans Switch Africa Holdings Ltd and its 

subsidiaries Ý®rk 5ª~¯§ÞÏ ^|i ®rk +~{§^|·í« «k§^ª^®k ps|^|gs^z «®^®k{k|®« on pages 50 to 92 which 

comprise the consolidated and separate statements o f financial position as at June 30, 2022, and 

the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 

consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity and consolidated and separate 

statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated and separate 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

 In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements on pages 50 to 92 give a true 

and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at June 30, 2022, and of 

their financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the Mauritian Companie s Act 2001 

Basis for Opinion  

 We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the "¯is®~ªí« Mk«§~|«sfszs®sk« p~ª ®rk 

Audit of the Consolidated and Sep arate Financial Statements section of our report. We are 

independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 

"gg~¯|®^|®«í International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 

Independence S tandards) (the "IESBA Code"). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinio n. 

Key Audit Matters  

 Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 

in our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. These 

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the 

matter is provided in that context.  

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated 

s| ~¯ª ªk§~ª®Î Wk r^´k p¯zpszzki ®rk ªk«§~|«sfszs®sk« ik«gªsfki s| ®rk "¯is®~ªí« ªk«§~|«sfszs®sk« p~ª ®rk 

audit of the financial statement s section of our report, including in relation to these matters.  
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KEY AUDIT MATTER   AUDIT RESPONSE 

1 The Company - Assessment of impairment of investments in subsidiaries 

        

The Company carries its investments in 

subsidiaries at cost.  At 30 June 2022, 

total investments amounted to USD 16 

million. Management reviews regularly 

whether there are any indicators of 

impairment of the investment in 

subsidiary companies reported in the 

separate financial statements by 

reference to the requirements of IAS 36 

Impairment of Assets.  

 

The determination of the recoverable 

amount of the investment in subsidiary 

company was one of the key 

judgemental areas in  preparing the 

financial statements due to a 

combination of the significance of the 

investment and the inherent 

uncertainty in the assumptions 

supporting the recoverable amount of 

these investments. We therefore 

considered this to be a key audit 

matter.  

 Our audit procedures included amongst other 

the following:  

(a) We understood, assessed and 

gr^zzk|qki {^|^qk{k|®í« §ª~gk«« ^|i 

methodology for assessing the 

indication for impairment,  including 

gaining an understanding of the key 

controls around the impairment 

assessment process. 

(b) With the support of our Corporate 

Finance Team, we challenged the 

appropriateness of the impairment 

valuation method and assumptions used 

such as discount rates and growth rates, 

in deriving the discounted cash flow by 

compar ing these assumptions to our 

internally derived expectations based on 

historical performance of the businesses 

as well as industry benchmark. 

(c) We verified the completeness, adequacy 

and relevance of the information 

presented to us.  

(d) We checked the mathematic al accuracy 

of the model.  

(e) We performed sensitivity analysis on the 

main assumptions used to ensure the 

valuation arrived at is fair and 

reasonable. 

(f) We also reviewed and assessed the 

completeness of the disclosure in the 

financial statements for compliance with 

International Financial Reporting 

Standards including disclosure on 

significant inputs and sensitivity analysis.                           

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Related Disclosure 

Refer to note 2.3 (e) for accounting policies and note 6 of the accompanying financial statements.  
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KEY AUDIT MATTER  AUDIT RESPONSE 

2 The Group - Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  

        

The Group has various listed investments in 

financial assets designated as fair value through 

profit or loss. At 30 June 2022, total financial 

assets amounted to USD 9.4 million. The carrying 

value of the financial asset is a significant item on 

the statement of fin ancial position and is 

considered as a key audit matter.  

 In our audit approach, we performed 

the following:  

(a) ensured that the measurement basis for 

the valuation used was in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting 

Standards. 

(b) performed audit proc edures over the 

valuation by obtaining confirmation for 

the value and number of shares held 

and ensured proper accounting of 

investments held by the Grou p. 

(c) recomputed the carrying value of the 

financial asset. 

(d) reviewed and assessed the 

completeness of the disclosures in the 

financial statements for compliance with 

International Financial Reporting 

Standards. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

   

   

     
 

 

Related Disclosures     

Refer to note 2.3 (f) for accounting policies and note 4 of the accompanying financial statements.  
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KEY AUDIT MATTER   AUDIT RESPONSE 

3 The Group - Goodwill impairment assessment  

Under IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, the Group 

is required to annually test the amount of 

goodwill for impairment. This annual 

impairment test was significant to our audit 

because the carrying value of goodwill is USD 

3.8 million as at 30 June 2022 and is material to 

the financial statements. The recoverability of 

the carrying value of goodwill is determine d 

with reference to its value -in-use, based on the 

cash flow forecasts for each cash-generating 

unit. There is estimation and judgement 

involved in the forecasting and discounting of 

future cash flows, with the future cash flows, 

growth rate and discount r ates being the most 

significant assumptions influencing the 

valuation to determine if any impairment is 

required in terms of IFRS. 

 

As the goodwill balance is material to the 

Group and significant judgement is exercised 

by the directors in evaluating the v aluation of 

the goodwill, the evaluation of goodwill for 

possible impairment is considered to be a key 

audit matter.  

 

In evaluating goodwill for impairment, we 

reviewed the impairment assessment, as 

prepared by management with our internal 

expert. We perfo rmed various procedures, 

including the following:  

(a) k´^z¯^®s|q ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ´^z¯^®s~| {~ikz« 

and the principles and integrity of the 

models.  

(b) testing of inputs into the cash flow forecast 

against historical performance and , in 

g~{§^ªs«~| ®~ ®rk 5ª~¯§í« 

(c)  strategic plans. 

(d) comparing the growth rates used to 

historical performance.  

(e) testing the assumptions used to calculate 

the discount rates and recalculating those 

rates taking into account external market 

factors. 

(f) tested the integrity and mathematical 

accuracy of the impairment model.  

(g) considered the sensitivity of the 

impairment testing model to changes in 

key assumptions. 

(h) ^««k««s|q ®rk ^ik©¯^g· ~p ®rk 5ª~¯§í« 

disclosures in respect of goodwill with 

reference to applicable accounting 

standards. Based on the results of the 

above procedures, we consider the 

assumptions used in the valuation models 

to be appropriate and the disclosures in 

relation to the goodwill balance to be 

appropriate.  

Related Disclosures     

The disclosures relating to goodwill is contained in the goodwill accounting policies note 2.3(a) 

and Note 7 of the accompanying financial statements.  
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Other Information  

 Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the annual report (but does not include the consolidated and separate 

financial statements and our auditors' report thereon).  

 Our opinion on the consolidated and separate  financial statements does not cover the other 

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

 In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our 

responsibilit y is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether 

the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

 If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the 

i^®k ~p ®rs« ^¯is®~ªí« ªk§~ª®Ï µk g~|gz¯ik ®r^® ®here is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

 When we read the 'other information' which will be made available to us after the date of our report, 

if we conclude  that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the 

matter to those charged with governance.                                                                                                                                                                                                    

Responsibilities of Directors  and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated and 

Separate Financial Statements 

 The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of  the consolidated and 

separate financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in 

compliance with the requirements of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001, and for such internal 

control as the directors determine is nece ssary to enable the preparation of the consolidated and 

separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

 In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible f or 

^««k««s|q ®rk 5ª~¯§ ^|i ®rk +~{§^|·í« ^fszs®· ®~ g~|®s|¯k ^« ^ q~s|q g~|gkª|Ï is«gz~«s|qÏ ^« 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and the C ompany or to cease operations, 

or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

 Pr~«k gr^ªqki µs®r q~´kª|^|gk ^ªk ªk«§~|«sfzk p~ª ~´kª«kks|q ®rk 5ª~¯§ ^|i ®rk +~{§^|·í« 

financial reporting process.  

 "¯is®~ªí« Mk«§~|«sfszs®sk« for the Audit of the Consolidat ed and Separate Financial Statements 

 Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate 

financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 

^|i ®~ s««¯k ^| ^¯is®~ªí« ªk§~ª® ®r^® s|gz¯ik« ~¯ª ~§s|s~|Î Mk^«~|^fzk ^««¯ª^|gk s« ^ rsqr zk´kz ~p 

assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted  in accordance with ISAs will always detect 

a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
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influence the economic de cisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate 

financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

Å Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 

from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of intern al control.  

Å Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group and the Company í« s|®kª|^z g~|®ª~zÎ  

Å Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by directors.  

Å +~|gz¯ik ~| ®rk ^§§ª~§ªs^®k|k«« ~p isªkg®~ª«í ¯«k ~p ®rk q~s|q g~|gkª| f^«s« ~p accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 

k´k|®« ~ª g~|is®s~|« ®r^® {^· g^«® «sq|spsg^|® i~¯f® ~| ®rk 5ª~¯§ ^|i ®rk +~{§^|·í« ^fszs®· 

to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a materia l uncertainty exists, we are 

ªk©¯sªki ®~ iª^µ ^®®k|®s~| s| ~¯ª ^¯is®~ªí« ªk§~ª® ®~ ®rk ªkz^®ki is«gz~«¯ªk« s| ®rk 

consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the  audit evidence obtained up to the 

i^®k ~p ~¯ª ^¯is®~ªí« ªk§~ª®Î 6~µk´kªÏ p¯®¯ªk k´k|®« ~ª g~|is®s~|« {^· g^¯«k ®rk 5ª~¯§ ^|i 

the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

Å Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate 

financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation.  

Å Obtain sufficient appropriate audit e vidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 

and separate  financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 

performance of the group  audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.   

¶ We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies  in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

¶ We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with 

them all relationships and othe r matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 

applied.  
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¶ From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 

matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 

{^®®kª« s| ~¯ª ^¯is®~ªí« ªk§~ª® ¯|zk«« z^µ ~ª ªkq¯z^®s~| §ªkgz¯ik« §¯fzsg is«gz~«¯ªk ^f~¯® 

the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 

be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communicati on. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

 Mauritian Companies Act 2001  

The Mauritian Companies Act 2001 requires that in carrying out our audit we consider and report 

on the following matters. We confirm that:  

We have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company or any of its subsidiaries, other than in 

our capacity as auditors, business advisers and dealings in the ordinary course of business.   We 

have obtained all information and explanations we have required.   

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from 

our examination of those records.  

Other Matter  

This report is made solely to the Company's shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 

205 of the Mauritian Companies Act 200 1. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 

«®^®k ®~ ®rk +~{§^|·ó« «r^ªkr~zikª« ®r~«k {^®®kª« µk ^ªk ªk©¯sªki ®~ «®^®k ®~ ®rk{ s| ^| ^¯is®~ªí« 

report and for no other purpose.  

 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 

than the Company and the Company's shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 

or for the opinions we have formed.  

 

BDO  &  CO         Rookaya Ghanty,  FCCA 
Chartered Accountants          Licensed by FRC 
 Port Louis, Mauritius  
Date: 28 September 2022        Date: 28 September 
2022                                                                                                                                                                                                                
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Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income  

    THE GROUP  THE COMPANY 

  Notes  2022  2021  2022  2021 

    USD  USD  USD  USD 

Revenue  16         

Dividend Income              64,267            24,713     350,000         100,000  

Revenue from services           523,217      499,471               -                           -    

Other income  17              6,260       152,252               -                           -    

    
        593,744          676,436      350,000         100,000  

Fair value (loss)/gain on 

investments 4  
(2,964,939)      1,051,904               -                         -      

           
Expenses   19         

Other expenses           238,415           145,664        42,606          44,791  

Administrative expenses           409,546   594,612   69,403         76,916  

            647,961          740,276   112,009       121,707  
           

Impairment on Goodwill  7                 -        (3,200,314)              -                          -    

Finance cost 18           (8,457)       (2,593)              -                          -    

           

(Loss)/profit before tax      (3,027,613)    (2,214,843)    237,991        (21,707) 
           

Income tax expense 15   (50,603)       (8,921)             -                     (38) 
           

(Loss)/profit for the year      (3,078,216)    (2,223,764)     237,991         (21,745) 
           

Other comprehensive 

income  
5          209,673                    -          209,673                     -      

           

Total comprehensive 

(loss)/income for the year  
    (2,868,543)    (2,223,764)     447,664       (21,745) 

           

Loss attributable to:           

Equity holder of the Company    (2,868,543)    (2,220,352)     447,664     (21,745) 

Non-controlling interest                   -                 (3,412)              -                         -      

Total comprehensive 

(loss)/income for the year  

  
  (2,868,543) 

 
  (2,223,764) 

 
  447,664  

 
 (21,745) 

     

Loss per share 12               (0.14)              (0.10)     

           

The notes on pages 54 to 92 form an integral part of these financial statements.  

Auditor's report on pages 43 to 49.     
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Statements of Financial Position 

    THE GROUP  THE COMPANY 

  Notes  2022  2021  2022  2021 

    USD  USD  USD  USD 

ASSETS           

Non-current assets           

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss  
 4   9,394,979   10,561,733               -                         -      

Equipment   8           1,312                     -                   -                         -      

Financial assets at fair value 

through other 

comprehensive income  

 5       309,673                     -            309,673                     -      

Investment in subsidiaries  6              -                         -       16,007,710   16,007,709  

Goodwill   7  3,768,381    3,768,381               -                         -      

 
   13,474,345   14,330,114   16,317,383   16,007,709  

           
Current assets           

Trade and other receivables   9       198,224        182,521          37,679          29,119  

Financial assets at 

amortised cost  
 9A              -                         -            127,975          57,975  

Cash and cash equivalents  10       738,813    2,744,776          94,175          31,998  

 
        937,037    2,927,297        259,829       119,092  

           

Total assets    14,411,382   17,257,411   16,577,212   16,126,801  
           

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES           

Equity            

Share capital  11  22,000,100   22,000,100   22,000,100   22,000,100  

Investments revaluation reserves       209,673                     -            209,673                     -      

Retained earnings    (8,049,967)  (4,961,758)  (5,642,182)  (5,880,173) 

Equity holder interest     14,159,806   17,038,342    16,567,591    16,119,927  

Non-controlling interest                 -            (9,993)              -                         -      

Total equity     14,159,806   17,028,349   16,567,591   16,119,927  
           

Non-current liabilities            

Borrowings   13       131,306   145,175               -                         -      
           

Current liabilities            

Other payables   14         94,955           78,178            9,621            6,874  

Current tax liabilities   15         25,315            5,709               -                         -      

 
        120,270           83,887            9,621           6,874  

Total equity and liabilities  
    

14,411,382  
  

17,257,411  
  

16,577,212  
  

16,126,801  

           

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 September  2022    

 

Signed on behalf of the Board  
           

         

 

Director  
       

    

The notes on pages 54 to 92 form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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Auditor's report on pages 43 to 49.    

Statements of Changes in Equity  

THE GROUP       

   
 Stated  
 capital  

 
Retained  
earnings 

 Investments 
revaluation 
reserves 

Total Equity 
attributable to  

equity  holders 

   

     NCI  Total 

    USD   USD  USD USD  USD  USD 

             

At 1 July 2021    22,000,100   (4,961,758)                -    
  

17,038,342  
 (9,993)  17,028,349  

Change in 
shareholding 
not resulting in 
loss of control                        -           (9,993)               -    

         
(9,993)    9,993                -    

Other 
comprehensive 
income  

                      -                   -     209,673  209,673             -          209,673  

Loss for the year                      -     (3,078,216)                -    (3,078,216)             -     (3,078,216) 

At 30 June 2022   22,000,100   (8,049,967)   209,673  14,159,806              -     14,159,806  

At 1 July 2020   22,000,100   (2,741,406)                -      19,258,694   (6,581)  19,252,113  

Loss for the year                      -     (2,220,352)        -    (2,220,352)  (3,412)  (2,223,764) 

At 30 June 2021   22,000,100   (4,961,758)                 -      17,038,342   (9,993)  17,028,349  

           

 

THE COMPANY 
  

 

 

  Stated  Retained   Other    

    
 

 
  capital  earnings  reserves  Total 

       USD USD  USD  USD 

At 1 July 2021       
22,000,100  

      
(5,880,173) 

             -      
16,119,927  

Loss for the year 
     

                    
-              237,991             -            237,991  

Other comprehensive income  
   

                    
-                    -          209,673        209,673  

At 30 June 2022   
 

 
 22,000,100       (5,642,182)     209,673   16,567,591  

At 1 July 2020 
     22,000,100    (5,858,428)                  -     

  
16,141,672  

Loss for the year 
     

                    
-    

                 
(21,745)  

                 
-     

           
(21,745) 

At 30 June 2021   
 

 
 22,000,100       (5,880,173)                  -     16,119,927  

    
 

 
 

 
     

The notes on pages 54 to 92 form an integral part of these financial statements.   

Auditor's report on pages 43 to 49.       
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Statements of Cashflows   

     

  
 

THE GROUP    THE COMPANY  

    Note  2022  2021  2022 
 

2021 

      USD    USD    USD    USD  
            

Operating activities            
(Loss)/profit before tax         (3,027,613)      (2,214,843)      237,991             (21,707) 

Adjustment for:            

 Interest income    17            (1,268)                  (47)            -                        -      

 Dividend income    16          (64,267)           (24,713)  

   
(350,000)          (100,000) 

 Impairment of goodwill    7                -            3,200,314             -                        -      

 Interest expense   18             8,457               2,593             -                        -      

 Depreciation on equipment    8               210                   -                 -                        -      

 Fair value loss/(gain)   4      2,964,939       (1,051,904)            -                        -      
            

Working capital adjustments:            

 Change in other receivables             (15,703)          274,213         (8,560)                  164  

 Change in other payables               16,777             28,801          2,746               (4,500) 

Cash (used in)/generated from 
operating activities            (118,468)          214,414   

   
(117,823)          (126,043) 

Dividend received  
  16                -                       -           350,000            100,000  

Tax paid 
            (30,996)           (10,288)            -                        (38) 

Net cash(used in)/from operating 
activities           (149,464)          204,126       232,177             (26,081) 
            
Investing activities           

Disposal of financial asset at fair value           

through profit or loss    4      3,498,527        4,222,332             -                        -      

Purchase of equipment    8            (1,522)                  -                 -                        -      

Addition of financial assets at fair value           
through profit or loss    

4     (5,296,713)      (9,849,874)            -                        -      

Addition of financial assets at fair value  
 

        

other comprehensive income   
 5        (100,000)                  -       

   
(100,000)                   -      

Dividend received  
  16           64,267             24,713             -                        -      

Interest received 
  17             1,268                    47             -                        -      

Loan to subsidiary                   -                       -           (70,000)            (20,000) 

Net cash used in investing activities 
 

(1,834,173)  (5,602,782)  (170,000)  (20,000) 
            

Financing activities           

Loan repaid    13          (13,869)           (30,900)            -                        -      

Interest paid    18            (8,457)             (2,593)            -                        -      

Net cash used in financing activities  
          (22,326)           (33,493)            -                        -      

            
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash   

       
equivalents    

    (2,005,963)      (5,432,149)        62,177             (46,081) 

Cash and cash equivalents at  beginning of year       2,744,776        8,176,925         31,998              78,079  

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June  10         738,813        2,744,776         94,175              31,998  

            

The notes on pages 54 to 92 form an integral part of these financial statements.  

Auditor's report on pages 43 to 49.     
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Notes to the Financial Statements  

1. LEGAL FORM AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 

Trans Switch Africa Holdings Ltd (the "Company") has been incorporated in the Republic of 

Mauritius as a private company limited by shares in accordance with the Companies Act 2001. 

The Company has been granted a Category 1, Global Busin ess Licence by the Financial Services 

Commission.  

The principal activity of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Group") 

is to act as an investment holding Company with a view to take strategic positions in certain 

targeted compan ies who plays a key role in servicing both the financial and non -financial sector 

within Sub-Saharan Africa. 

The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 30 June 2022 

were authorised for issue on the date the financial st atements were approved by the Directors 

as stamped on the statement of financial position.  

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards Ýê74MNëÞ ^« s««¯ki f· ®rk 7|®kª|^®s~|^z "gg~¯|®s|q N®^|i^ªi« *~^ªi 

Ýê7"N*ëÞ ^|i +~{§^|sk« "g® À¾¾¿Î 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except otherwise 

indicated.  

The financial statements are presented in United States D ollar (''USD'') and all values are 

rounded to the nearest dollar, except when otherwise indicated.  

2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its 

subsidiary as at 30 June 2022. Subsidiaries are entities that are controlled by the Group. Control 

is achieved if and only if the Group has:  

Á Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 

activities of the investee) 

Á Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and  

Á The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns  

The Group re -assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 

that there are changes to o ne or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a 

subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 

Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
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acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements 

from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.  

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attr ibuted to the 

shareholders of the parent of the Group and to the non -controlling interests, even if this results 

in the non -controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made 

to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the 

5ª~¯§í« ^gg~¯|®s|q §~zsgsk«Î "zz s|®ª^-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and 

cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on 

consolidation.  

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as 

an equity transaction.  

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including 

goodwill), liabilities, non -controlling in terest and other components of equity, while any 

resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair 

value. 

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

a) Business combinations and goodwill  

Business combination s are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an 

acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at 

acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non -controlling interests in the acquiree. 

For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non -controlling 

s|®kªk«®« s| ®rk ^g©¯sªkk ^® p^sª ´^z¯k ~ª ^® ®rk §ª~§~ª®s~|^®k «r^ªk ~p ®rk ^g©¯sªkkí« 

identifiable net assets. Acquisition -related costs are expensed as incurred.  

Goodwill is init ially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the 

consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non -controlling interests, and any 

previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If 

the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration 

transferred, the Group re -assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets 

acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the 

amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the re -assessment still results in an 

excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, 

then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.  

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment 

losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination 

s«Ï pª~{ ®rk ^g©¯s«s®s~| i^®kÏ ^zz~g^®ki ®~ k^gr ~p ®rk 5ª~¯§í« g^«r-generating units that are 

expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities 

of the acquiree are assigned to those units.  

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash -generating unit and part of the operation 

within that unit is dispose d of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is 

included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on 
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disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative 

values of the disposed o peration and the portion of the cash -generating unit retained.  

b) Foreign currencies  

Prk ps|^|gs^z «®^®k{k|®« ^ªk §ªk«k|®ki s| QN-Ï µrsgr s« ^z«~ ®rk +~{§^|·í« p¯|g®s~|^z 

currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items includ ed 

in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.  

Transactions and balances 

Pª^|«^g®s~|« s| p~ªksq| g¯ªªk|gsk« ^ªk s|s®s^zz· ªkg~ªiki f· ®rk 5ª~¯§í« k|®s®sk« ^® ®rksª 

respective functional currency spot rates preva iling at the date the transaction first qualifies 

for recognition.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 

functional currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences arising 

on settlement or retranslation of monetary items are taken to profit or loss.  

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non -monet ary 

items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at 

the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on retranslation of non -

monetary items is treated in line with the recognition of gain or  loss on change in fair value 

of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised 

in other comprehensive income or profit or loss are also recognised in other comprehensive 

income or profit or loss, respectively) . 

c) Revenue recognition  

Rendering of services 

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflect the consideration to which the Group is 

expected to be entitled in exchange for transferring services to a customer. For each contract 

with a customer, the Group id entifies the contract with the customer; identified the 

performance in the contract; determines the transaction price which takes into account 

estimates of variable consideration and the time value of money; allocates the transaction 

price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand -alone selling 

price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and recognises revenue when or as 

each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the custome r 

of the services promised.  

The Group provides electronic payment services with bank institution in Angola. The scope 

of the services comprise of card services, account hosting services and fraud management 

services. Revenue from providing services is recognised overtime in the accounting period 

in which the services are rendered. Performance obligation is satisfied , and revenue is 

recognised as and when the service is being provided. Revenue is computed based on the 

actual service provided to the end of th e reporting period as a proportion of the total services 

to be provided, because the customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. For 
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card account hosting fee, this is determined based on the number of accounts for active, 

dormant and close card s accounts. For account hosting services and ATM transaction the 

fee is determined based on the transaction volume. For fraud monitoring services, this is 

determined based on the monthly usage and administration and fraud event.  

Customers are invoiced on a  monthly basis and consideration is payable when invoiced. 

Revenue is recognised overtime.  

Interest income 

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 

amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently become credit -

impaired. For credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the net 

carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).  

Dividend s  

Dividend s are recognised, in profit or loss, when the Group and the Company rights to 

receive payment have been established. Revenue is recognised at a point in time.  

d) Taxes  

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 

compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, by the reporting 

date, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.  

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity 

and not in profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax 

returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subj ect to 

interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.  

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the 

tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting  purposes 

at the reporting date.  

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:  

Á Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 

the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;  

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward 

of unused tax credits and unused tax losses.  
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Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 

available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 

unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, excep t: 

Á Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises 

from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accoun ting profit nor 

taxable profit or loss.  

Á In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in 

subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities 

are recognised only to the extent that it is  probable that the temporary differences will 

reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 

temporary differences can be utilised.  

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced 

to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets 

are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to  the extent that it has become 

probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 

in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 

laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit 

or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either 

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.  

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists 

to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate 

to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.  

e) Investments in subsidiaries (separate financial statements of the Company)  

Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the Company. Contr ol is achieved when the 

Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity 

and has ability to affect these returns through its power over the entity.   

Investment in subsidiary in the separate financial statement s of the Company is carried at 

cost, net of any impairment.  Where the carrying amount of an investment is greater than its 

estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount 

and the difference is recognised in profit or  loss.  Upon disposal of the investment, the 

difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in 

profit or loss.  

f) Financial instruments 

4s|^|gs^z ^««k®« ^|i ps|^|gs^z zs^fszs®sk« ^ªk ªkg~q|s«ki s| ®rk 5ª~¯§í« «®^®k{k|® ~p pinancial 

position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, except for trade 

receivables that do not have a significant financing compone nt which are measured at 

transaction price. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue 

of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities 

at fair value through profit or lo ss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 

financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs 

directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value  

through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.  

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on 

a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 

that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention 

in the marketplace.  

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either 

amortised cost or fair value, depending on the cl assification of the financial assets. 

Classification of financial assets 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at 

amortised cost:  

¶ The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial 

assets, in order to collect contractual cash flows  

¶ The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding  

Debt instruments tha t meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair 

value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI):  

Å The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 

collecting contractual cash flows and selling the f inancial assets 

Å The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding  

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through 

profit or loss (FVTPL). 

Despite the foregoing, the Group may make the following irrevocable election / 

designation at initial recognition of a financial asset:  

Å The Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair valu e of an 

equity investment in other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met (see (iii) 

below) . 

Å The Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost 

or FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces 

an accounting mismatch (see (iv) below) . 
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(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method  

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt 

instrument and of allocating interest income over the releva nt period.  

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit -impaired financial assets (i.e. 

assets that are credit impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate 

that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts  (including all fees and points paid or 

received that form an integral part  of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 

premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the 

debt instrument, or, where ap propriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of 

the debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit -impaired 

financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the 

estimated futu re cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of the 

debt instrument on initial recognition.  

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured 

at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using 

the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity 

amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is 

the amortised cost of  a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.  

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments 

measured subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than 

purchased or originate d credit -impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by 

applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except 

for financial assets that have subsequently become credit -impaired (see below). For 

financial assets that have subsequently become credit -impaired, interest income is 

recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. 

If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit -impaired financia l 

instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit -impaired, interest income 

is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the 

financial asset. 

For purchased or originated credit -impaired financial assets, the Group recognises interest 

income by applying the credit -adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the 

financial asset from initial recognition. The calculation does not revert to the gross basis 

even if the credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so that the financial asset 

is no longer credit -impaired.  

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss.  

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI 

On initial recognition, the Group may m ake an irrevocable election (on an instrument -by-

instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation 

at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent 

consideration recogni sed by an acquirer in a business combination.  
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Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus 

transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising 

from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 

the investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified to profit 

or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, it is transferred to retained earnings.  

Dividen ds on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss in 

accordance with IFRS 9, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost 

of the investment. Dividends are included in the in profit or loss.  

The Group de signated all investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading as 

at FVTOCI on initial recognition.  

A financial asset is held for trading if either:  

Å It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term  

Å On initial re cognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the 

Group manages together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short -term 

profit -taking  

Å It is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contra ct or a 

designated and effective hedging instrument)  

The Group has designated financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income. Refer to note 5.  

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL 

Å Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measu red at amortised cost or 

FVTOCI (see (i) to (ii) above) are measured at FVTPL. Specifically: 

Å Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group 

designates an equity investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent 

consideration arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition 

(see (ii) above) 

Å Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria 

are classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised 

cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 

recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or 

ªkg~q|s®s~| s|g~|«s«®k|g· Ý«~ g^zzki ì^gg~¯|®s|q {s«{^®gríÞ ®r^® µ~¯zi ^rise from 

measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different 

bases. The Group has not designated any debt instruments as at FVTPL. 

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, 

with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part 

of a designated hedging relationship.  

Impairment of financial assets 

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt  

instruments that are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI and trade receivables. The 
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amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 

credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.  

The Group always recognises lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) for trade receivables, 

contract assets and lease receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial assets 

^ªk k«®s{^®ki ¯«s|q ^ §ª~´s«s~| {^®ªs¶ f^«ki ~| ®rk 5ª~¯§í« rs«®~ªsg^z gªkiit loss 

experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 

conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of 

conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropri ate. 

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been 

a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the 

financial instrument has not increased significantly since i nitial recognition, the Group 

measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12 -month 

ECL. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default 

events over the expected life of a fin ancial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL 

represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a 

financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.  

(i) Significant increase in credit risk 

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly 

since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial 

instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a defaul t occurring on the financial 

instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group 

considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 

supportable, including historical experience and forward -looking  information that is 

available without undue cost or effort.  

Forward looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in 

µrsgr ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ikf®~ª« ~§kª^®kÏ ~f®^s|ki pª~{ kg~|~{sg k¶§kª® ªk§~ª®«Ï ps|^|gs^z 

analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think -tanks and other similar organi zations, as well 

as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information 

®r^® ªkz^®k ®~ ®rk 5ª~¯§í« g~ªk ~§kª^®s~|«Î 

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit 

risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:  

Å "| ^g®¯^z ~ª k¶§kg®ki «sq|spsg^|® ik®kªs~ª^®s~| s| ®rk ps|^|gs^z s|«®ª¯{k|®í« k¶®kª|^z Ýsp 

available) or internal credit rating  

Å Significant deterioration  in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular 

financial instrument, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default 

swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which the fair value of 

a financial asset has been less than its amortised cost 

Å Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that 

^ªk k¶§kg®ki ®~ g^¯«k ^ «sq|spsg^|® ikgªk^«k s| ®rk ikf®~ªí« ^fszs®· ®~ {kk® s®« ikf® 

obligations  
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Å An actual or expected sig nificant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor  

Å Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor  

Å An actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or 

technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the 

ikf®~ªí« ^fszs®· ®~ {kk® s®« ikf® ~fzsq^®s~|« 

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit 

risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual 

payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and 

supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.  

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has  

not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined 

to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have 

low credit risk if:  

Å The financial instrument has a low risk of default 

Å The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the 

near term 

Å Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will 

not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contr actual cash flow 

obligations  

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external 

gªkis® ª^®s|q ~p ìs|´k«®{k|® qª^ikí s| ^gg~ªi^|gk µs®r ®rk qz~f^zz· ¯|ikª«®~~i ikps|s®s~| 

or if an external rating is not available, the ^««k® r^« ^| s|®kª|^z ª^®s|q ~p ì§kªp~ª{s|qíÎ 

Performing means that the counterparty has a strong financial position and there are no 

past due amounts.  

For financial guaranteed  contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the 

irrevocable commitmen t is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes 

of assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been 

a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee 

contract, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default 

on the contract.  

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether 

there has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to 

ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before 

the amount becomes past due.  

(ii) Definition of default  

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk 

management purposes as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet 

either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:  

Å When there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor  
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Å Information developed in ternally or obtained from external sources indicates that the 

debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into 

account any collateral held by the Group)  

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a 

financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and 

supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more 

appropriate.  

(iii) Credit-impaired financial a ssets 

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact 

on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a 

financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about th e following events:  

Å Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower . 

Å A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above). 

Å The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the 

f~ªª~µkªí« psnancial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the 

lender(s) would not otherwise consider . 

Å It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganization.  

Å The disappearance of an active market for  that financial asset because of financial 

difficulties . 

(iv) Write-off policy  

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is 

in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g . when the 

debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or 

in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever 

occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to  enforcement activities 

¯|ikª ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ªkg~´kª· §ª~gki¯ªk«Ï ®^ys|q s|®~ ^gg~¯|® zkq^z ^i´sgk µrkªk 

appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.  

(v) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses  

The measurement of expected c redit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss 

given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. 

The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical 

data adjusted by forward -looking information as described above. As for the exposure at 

ikp^¯z®Ï p~ª ps|^|gs^z ^««k®«Ï ®rs« s« ªk§ªk«k|®ki f· ®rk ^««k®«í qª~«« g^ªª·s|q ^{~¯|® ^® ®rk 

reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount of 

guaranteed debt that has been drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any 

additional guaranteed amounts expected to be drawn down by the borrower in the future 

f· ikp^¯z® i^®k ik®kª{s|ki f^«ki ~| rs«®~ªsg^z ®ªk|iÏ ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ¯|ikª«®^|ding of the 

specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward -looking 

information.  
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For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all 

contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accord ance with the contract and all the 

cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest 

rate. 

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal 

to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period  but determines at the current reporting 

date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss 

allowance at an amount equal to 12 -month ECL at the current reporting date, except for 

assets for which the simplified approach was used.  

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments 

with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance 

account, except for investments in debt instrument s that are measured at FVTOCI, for which 

the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 

investment revaluation reserve  and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial 

asset in the statement of financial posit ion. 

Derecognition of financial assets  

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 

from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership of t he asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor 

retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 

transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated 

liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the 

financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds  received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between 

®rk ^««k®í« g^ªª·s|q ^{~¯|® ^|i ®rk «¯{ ~p ®rk g~|«sikª^®s~| ªkgks´ki ^|i ªkgks´^fzk s« 

recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition of an in vestment in a debt 

instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in 

the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on 

derecognition of an investment in an equity instrument which  the Group has elected on 

initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously 

accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but 

is transferred to retained earnings.  

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other 

short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash 

and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  

Financial liabilities 

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method.  
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Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost  

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business 

combination, (ii) held -fortrading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently 

at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a fin ancial 

liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 

rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and 

points paid or received that form an integral part of the ef fective interest rate, transaction 

costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, 

or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.  

Derecognition of financial liabilities  

Prk 5ª~¯§ ikªkg~q|s«k« ps|^|gs^z zs^fszs®sk« µrk|Ï ^|i ~|z· µrk|Ï ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ~fzsq^®s~|« 

are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of 

the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable i s recognised in 

profit or loss.   

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 

as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 

benefits will be required to s ettle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be 

reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the 

reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is presented in 

profit or loss net of any reimbursement.  

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current 

pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the ris ks specific to the liability.  Where 

discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised 

as a finance cost. 

g) Cash and non-cash distribution to shareholders of the parent  

The Company recognises a liability to make cash  or non -cash distributions to shareholders 

of the parent when the distribution is authorised and the distribution is no longer at the 

discretion of the Company. A corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity.  

Non-cash distributions are measured at  the fair value of the assets to be distributed with fair 

value remeasurement recognised directly in equity.  

Upon distribution of non -cash assets, any difference between the carrying amount of the 

liability and the carrying amount of the assets distributed  is recognised in the statement of 

profit or loss.  
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h) Stated Capital  

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 

of new shares are shown in equity as deduction, net of tax, from proceeds.  

i) Borrowings  

Borrowing s are initially recognised at fair value net of any transaction costs directly 

attributable to the issue of the instrument. Such interest -bearing liabilities are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, which ensures that any 

interest expense over the period to repayment is at a constant rate on the balance of the 

liability carried in the statement of financial position. For the purposes of each financial 

liability, interest expense includes initial transaction  costs as well as any interest payable 

while the liability is outstanding.  

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional 

right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the end of the 

reporting period.  

j) Property Plant and Equipment  

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the Group holds for its own use 

which are expected to be used for more than one period.  

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset  when it is probable that 

future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company, and the cost of 

the item can be measured reliably.  Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at 

cost. 

Cost includes costs incurred initially to acquire an item of property, plant and equipment 

and costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement 

cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the 

carrying amount of the r eplaced part is derecognised.  

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 

and any accumulated impairment losses.  

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by 

management . Depreciation is charged to write off the asset's carrying amount over its 

estimated useful life to its estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the 

pattern in which the asset's economic benefits are consumed by the company.  

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:  

Item      Useful Life 

Computer Equipment     3 Years 

Depreciation is not charged to an asset if its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to 

its carrying amount.  
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An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 

economic benefits are expected from its continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising 

from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, determine d as the 

difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item, 

is included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised . 

2.4 STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

EFFECTIVE IN THE REPORTING PERIOD 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2 

IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts: The amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 

amend requirements relating to changes in the basis for determining contractual cash flows of 

financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, hedge accounting and disclosures.  The 

amendment to IFRS 4 enables an insurer applying the temporary exemption from IFRS 9 to 

apply a practical expedient to account for a change in the contractual cash flows tha t are 

required by IBOR reform by updating the effective interest rate to reflect any change arising 

from the reform.   Prk ^{k|i{k|®« r^´k |~ s{§^g® ~| ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ps|^|gs^z «®^®k{k|®«Î 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and 

IFRS 16 amend requirements relating to changes in the basis for determining contractual cash 

flows of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, hedge accounting and 

disclosures.  The amendment to IFRS 7 requires a company to make additional disclosures in 

its financial statements so that investors can better understand the effects of IBOR reform on 

that company.   Prk ^{k|i{k|®« r^´k |~ s{§^g® ~| ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ps|^|gs^z «®^®k{k|®«Î 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 

amend requirements relating to changes in the basis for determining contractual cash flows of 

financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, hedge accounting and disclosures.  The 

amendments to IFRS 9 enable a company to apply a practical expedient to account for a change 

in the contractual cash flows that are required by IBOR reform by updating the effective interest 

rate to reflect any change arising from the reform. The amendments to IFRS 9 enable (and 

require) companies to continue hedge accounting in circumstances when changes to hedged 

items and hedging instruments arise as a result of changes required by the IBOR reform, by 

requiring companies to amend their hedging relationship s to reflect:  

¶ designating an alternative benchmark rate as the hedged risk; or  

¶ changing the description of the hedged item, including the designated portion, or of the 

hedging instrument.  

Prk ^{k|i{k|®« r^´k |~ s{§^g® ~| ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ps|^|gs^z «®^®k{k|®«Î 

IFRS 16 Leases: The amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 amend 

requirements relating to changes in the basis for determining contractual cash flows of financial 

assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, hedge accounting and di sclosures.  The 

amendment to IFRS 16 enables a company to apply a practical expedient to account for a lease 

modification required by the IBOR reform.  
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IFRS 16 Leases  

Covid 19 related rent concessions: Effective June 1, 2020, further to IFRS 16 amendment to 

provide a practical expedient for lessees accounting for rent concessions that arise as a direct 

consequence of the COVID -19 pandemic.  The amendment provides lessees with an exemption 

from assessing whether a COVID-19-related rent concession is a lease modification.   The 

^{k|i{k|®« r^´k |~ s{§^g® ~| ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ps|^|gs^z «®^®k{k|®«Î 

2.5  STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED 

BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

Certain standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations have been issued 

that are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after January  1, 2022 or later 

periods, but which the Group has not early adopted.  

At the reporting date of these financial statements, the following were in issue but not yet 

effective:  

Effective date January 1, 2022 

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financi al Reporting Standards  

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020: Extension of an optional exemption 

permitting a subsidiary that becomes a first -time adopter after its parent to measure cumulative 

translation differences using the amounts reported f· s®« §^ªk|®Ï f^«ki ~| ®rk §^ªk|®í« i^®k ~p 

transition to IFRSs. A similar election is available to an associate or joint venture. 

IFRS 3 Business Combinations 

Reference to the Conceptual Framework : The amendment updates a reference in IFRS 3 to the 

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting requirements 

for business combinations . 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020: The amendment clarifies which fees an 

entity includes when it appl sk« ®rk í¿¾ §kª gk|®í ®k«® s| ^««k««s|q µrk®rkª ®~ ikªkg~q|s«k ^ 

financial liability.  

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment   

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use : The amendments prohibit an 

entity from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds 

from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary 

for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  Instead, an entity 

recognises the proc eeds from selling such items, and the cost of producing those items, in profit 

or loss. 
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IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets  

Onerous Contracts-Cost of Fulfilling a Contract : The amendments specify which costs should be 

included s| ^| k|®s®·í« ^««k««{k|® µrk®rkª ^ g~|®ª^g® µszz fk z~««-making.  

IAS 41 Agriculture 

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020: The amendment removes the requirement 

for entities to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the fair value of a biolo gical asset 

using a present value technique.  

Effective date January1, 2023 

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts  

IFRS 17 creates one accounting model for all insurance contracts in all jurisdictions that apply 

IFRS.  IFRS 17 requires an entity to measure insurance contracts using updated estimates and 

assumptions that reflect the timing of cash flows and take into ac count any uncertainty relating 

to insurance contracts.   

The financial statements of an entity will reflect the time value of money in estimated payments 

required to settle incurred claims. Insurance contracts are required to be measured based only 

on the obligations created by the contracts.  An entity will be required to recognise profits as 

an insurance service is delivered, rather than on receipt of premiums.  This standard replaces 

IFRS 4-Insurance Contracts 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Noncurrent : Narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1 to 

clarify how to classify debt and other liabilities as current or non -current.  

Disclosure of Accounting Policies : The amendments require companies to disclose their 

material accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting policies, with 

additional guidance added to the Standard to explain how an entity can identify material 

accounting policy information with examples of when accounting policy inf ormation is likely to 

be material.  

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 

Definition of Accounting Estimates : The amendments clarify how companies should distinguish 

changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting e stimates, by replacing the 

definition of a change in accounting estimates with a new definition of accounting estimates.  

Q|ikª ®rk |kµ ikps|s®s~|Ï ^gg~¯|®s|q k«®s{^®k« ^ªk ê{~|k®^ª· ^{~¯|®« s| ps|^|gs^z «®^®k{k|®« 

that are subject to measurement uncertain ®·ëÎ  Prk ªk©¯sªk{k|®« p~ª ªkg~q|s«s|q ®rk kppkg® ~p 

change in accounting prospectively remain unchanged.  

IAS 12 Income Taxes 

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction: The amendment 

clarifies how a company accounts for income tax, including deferred tax, which represents tax 
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payable or recoverable in the future.  In specified circumstances, companies are exempt from 

recognising deferred tax when they recognise assets o r liabilities for the first time.  The aim of 

the amendments is to reduce diversity in the reporting of deferred tax on leases and 

decommissioning obligations, by clarifying when the exemption from recognising deferred tax 

would apply to the initial recogn ition of such items.  

AMENDMENT FOR WHICH EFFECTIVE DATE HAS BEEN DEFERRED INDEFINITELY UNTIL 

FURTHER NOTICE 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements : 

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 

(Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28): Narrow scope amendment address an acknowledged 

inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28 (2011), in dealing with 

the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joi nt venture.  

AMENDMENT FOR WHICH EFFECTIVE DATE HAS BEEN DEFERRED INDEFINITELY UNTIL 

FURTHER NOTICE 

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: 

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 

(Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28): Narrow scope amendment to address an acknowledged 

inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28 (2011), in dealing with 

the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.  

Where relevant, the Group  is still evaluating the effect of these Standards, Amendments to 

published Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective, on the presentation of its 

financial statements. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 

Prk §ªk§^ª^®s~| ~p ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ps|^|gs^z «®^®k{k|®« ªk©¯sªk« {^|^qk{k|® ®~ {^yk 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, 

expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, the discl osure of contingent 

liabilities. Uncertainties about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 

require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future 

periods.  

Judgements  

In the process of ^§§z·s|q ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ^gg~¯|®s|q §~zsgsk«Ï {^|^qk{k|® r^« {^ik ®rk 

following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 

financial statements:  

a) Determination of functional currency  

The primary objective of the Group is  to generate returns in USD, its capital -raising currency. 

The liquidity of the Group is managed on a day -to-day basis in USD. The Group's 

performance is evaluated in USD. Therefore, management considers USD as the currency 
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that most faithfully represents the economic effect of the underlying transactions, events 

and conditions.  

b) Going concern  

Prk 5ª~¯§í« {^|^qk{k|® r^« {^ik ^| ^««k««{k|® ~p ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ^fszs®· ®~ g~|®s|¯k ^« ^ 

going concern and is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in bu siness for 

the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties 

®r^® {^· g^«® «sq|spsg^|® i~¯f® ¯§~| ®rk 5ª~¯§í« ^fszs®· ®~ g~|®s|¯k ^« ^ q~s|q g~|gkª|Î 

Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on th e going concern basis.  

c) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

The Group has financial assets designated as fair value through profit or loss. The valuation 

of financial assets is determined by the Group through quoted prices on an active market 

which involve the use of judgement. Changes in judgeme nt about these factors could affect 

the reported fair value of investments.  

Estimates and assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertai nty 

at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.  

d) Investment in subsidiary  

The fair value of investment in a subsidiary company is determined by the Group using 

discounted cash flow valuation which involve the use of judgement and estimates and 

adjusted for net asset. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the 

reported fair value of investments.  

e) Good will 

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with 

the accounting policy stated in Note 2. 3(a).  These calculations require the use of estimates 

(note 7). 
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4. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS   
               

(a) At 30 June, the following instruments were designated as financial assets at fair value through profit  
or loss and were carried at fair value in the statement of financial position.   

 

            THE GROUP 
            2022  2021 
            USD  USD 
 At 1 July            10,561,732    3,882,287  

 Additions              5,296,713     9,849,874  

 
 

Disposal 
         

   

(3,498,527) 
 

 

(4,222,332) 

 Fair value (loss)/gain         (2,964,939)  1,051,904  

 At 30 June             9,394,979   10,561,733  

 

 

Name of the company  
Country of 

incorporation  

 

Number 
of units 
30 June 

2022  

Price as at 
30 June 

2022 

 

2022 
          

 PSG Wealth 
Global Flexible 
FOF (USD) IC 
Limited  

  
       

 

  Guernsey  

 
2,574,747   

             
2.23       5,736,868  

 
Aberdeen 
Standard Physical 
Gold shares ETF          

 Anchor Capital 
(Mauritius) Ltd*  

Mauritius      
395,783  

       8.86       3,507,054  

 Old Mutual 
Duration Fund  

  Mauritius          
1,510  

  100.00          151,057  

                  9,394,979  
               

 
Name of the 
company     

Country of 
incorporation  

 

Number 
of units 
30 June 

2021 

 Price as at 
30 June 

2021  2021 
 PSG Wealth 

Global Flexible 
FOF (USD) IC 
Limited  

         

   Guernsey       
1,702,818  

      2.76     4,702,725  

 Aberdeen 
Standard Physical 
Gold shares ETF 

         

   Guernsey   34,375           16.99   584,032  

 Ishares Gold ETF 
IAU 

  Guernsey       17,187      33.71    579,375  

 Anchor Capital 
(Mauritius) Ltd*  

Mauritius          
144,357  

 32.53   4,695,601  

               10,561,733  
  

 
* These are investment in various listed shares which are held through a broker (Anchor Capital 
(Mauritius) Ltd) and is regulated and licensed under the FSC.  
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(b) Fair value hierarchy    
   

 Fair value measurements are classified into a fair value hierarchy by reference to the 
observability and significance of the inputs used in measuring fair value. The hierarchy 
prioritises the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value based on their 
observable or unobservable nature. The three levels are as follows:  

 
 
                

 

Level 1: Valued using quoted price in active markets for identical 
assets.   

 Level 2: Valued by reference to valuation techniques using observable inputs other than 
quoted prices included within level .   

  
             

 Level 3: Valued by reference to valuation techniques using inputs that are not 
based on observable market data.   

        2022 

  
 

  
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

  
   

  
 USD  USD  USD  USD 

 
Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss  

      
  

 
 

   9,394,979  
 

                 -                  -         9,394,979  

        2021 

  
 

  
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

  
   

  
 USD  USD  USD  USD 

 
Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss  

       

 

 
10,561,733  

 

            -     

              
-     10,561,733  

       
      

  

  The Company classified financial assets at fair value through profit or loss if they 
were acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term, ie held for 
trading or were designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  

  

  

                  

(c) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are presented within the section 
on operating activities as part of changes in working capital in the statement of cash 
flows.   

                  

(d) Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
recorded in profit or loss.   

   
5. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
            

     THE GROUP  
THE COMPANY 

 Investment in equity 
instruments designated at 
FVTOCI 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 
 

 USD    USD    USD    USD  

 Acquisition of 
investment  

   100,000                       
-    

   100,000                    
-    

 
Change in fair value 

   209,673                       
-    

   209,673                    
-    

 
At 30 June 

   309,673                       
-    

   309,673                    
-    
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The Group and the Company participates in insurance activities through cell captive 
insurance companies. Trans Switch Africa Holdings Ltd owns 100% of the issued share 
capital of cells created by Guardrisk International Limited PCC (GIL).  

 

 

 
           

 The Group and the Company have an investment with Guardrisk International Limited 
PCC (GIL), a licensed insurance company, in insurance cells within ?^¯ªs®s¯«Î Prk«k  êgkzz«ë  
issue  certain  contracts  that  transfer  the  insurance  of  financial  risk.  The  risks  and  
rewards  associated  with  these  contracts  are transferred to the Group and the Company 
through a cell agreement.  

 

 

 

            
 Prk 5ª~¯§ ^|i ®rk +~{§^|· k|®kªki s|®~ ^ «r^ªkr~zikª«í ^qªkk{k|® p~ª s|«¯ª^|gk gkzz« 

domiciled in Mauritius. On the basis that the Mauritius cells are protected and the 
substance of the arrangements in Mauritius, these cells meet the ikps|s®s~| ~p ^ êikk{ki 
«k§^ª^®k k|®s®·ë §kª 74MN ¿¾Î 

 

 

            
 

In accordance with IFRS 10 an investor controls a deemed separate entity/investee if and 
only if the investor has all of the following elements:   

            
 (a) Power over the investee;      

 (b) Exposure, or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and  

 ÝgÞ Prk ^fszs®· ®~ ¯«k s®« §~µkª ~´kª ®rk s|´k«®kk ®~ ^ppkg® ®rk ^{~¯|® ~p ®rk s|´k«®~ªí« 
return.  

            
 An investor has power over a deemed separate entity when the investor has existing 

substantive rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee and that the party which practically direct the relevant activities is not an agent of 
the investor.  

 

 

            
 The Group and the Company have made an assessment of whether it controls the 

investee as follows: 
            
 (a) The Group and the Company do not have any existing rights to direct the relevant 

activities of the cell. The rights to direct the relevant activities of the cell (being the 
underwriting and managing of insurance of financial risk) vests with the Board of 
Directors of Guardrisk and their decisions will affect the amount of vari able returns 
that the Group and the Company are exposed to as a consequence of the 
investment.  

 
 

 
 

  
  

             
(b) GIL does not act as an agent on behalf of the Group and the Company in directing 

the relevant activities of the cell as the 5ª~¯§ ^|i ®rk +~{§^|· i~k«|í® r^´k ®rk 
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the cell.  

  

  
            
 

(c) The Group and the Company do not have the practical ability or is in any way 
involved with the appointment of the Guardrisk Board of Directors, any  key  
management  or  any  members  of  the  governing  bodies  of  the  cell.  None  of  
the  Board  members,  key  management  or members of the governing bodies of 
the cell are related parties to the Group and the Compa ny. 

  

  

  

            
 

(d) The Group and the Company have no practical ability to direct the cell to enter into 
or veto any changes to significant transactions for the benefit of the Group and the 
Company.  

  

            
 

(e) The shareholders agreement provides both parties the right to terminate the cell 
arrangement without cause.   

             

  Fair value hierarchy   

  Fair value measurements are classified into a fair value hierarchy by reference to the 
observability and significance of the inputs used in measuring fair value. The hierarchy   
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  prioritises the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value based on their 
observable or unobservable nature.   
 
 
 
 
 

The three levels are as follows:   

            

  

Level 1: Valued using quoted price in active markets for identical assets.  

  

  

Level 2: Valued by reference to valuation techniques using observable inputs other 

than quoted prices included within level .  

  Level 3: Valued by reference to valuation techniques using inputs that are not based 

on observable market data.  

  

       2022     

   Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

   
  USD  USD  USD  USD 

  Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income  

     
  

              -    
     

309,673  
 

                 -     

  
309,673  
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5. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)     

                     

 
On the basis on the above facts and circumstances, the Group has determined that its involvement with the cell does not meet the definition of control per IFRS 10 
and consequently the investments in the insurance cell c aptives are classified as an investment in equity instruments and measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income in line with IFRS 9. 

 

 

                     

6. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES          THE COMPANY 
                  2022  2021 
 Unquoted - at cost                USD  USD 

 At 1 July                    
16,007,709  

   
16,007,709  

 Addition                                     
1  

                    -    

 At 30 June                16,007,710   16,007,709  
                     

(a) Details pertaining to the investment in subsidiaries are as follows:            

 
    

 
  

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
 Proportion of  

 
    Principal   Class of  Year    Stated   Country of   ownership interest  

 Name of company     activities    share held  end  FCY  Capital   incorporation   2022  2021 
                     

 AfriSwitch Ltd 
("Afriswitch")   

Investment  
Holding  

 Ordinary   June 30,  USD   8,661,603   Mauritius  100%  100% 

 
    

 
 

              

 
Vivere Global Ltd 
(Previously 1dentity 
International Ltd)   

Verification 
Services 

 Ordinary   June 30,  USD        16,833   Mauritius  100%  80% 

 Vivere      
              

 Blue Saphire S.A. 
("Blue Saphire") 

 

Holds the 
intellectual 
property rights 
to certain 
software used in 
the financial 
services 
industry. 

 Ordinary  

 

June 30,  EUR        31,000   Luxembourg   100%  100% 



 

 
TRANS SWITCH AFRICA HOLDINGS ANNUAL REPORT  

Page 78 of 94 

 

(b) Subsidiaries with material non -controlling interests              

 Details for subsidiaries that have non -controlling interests that are material to the entity:         

 

Name of company  

            Loss allocated  Accumulated  

             

to non -
controlling   

non-
controlling  

             interests during   interests  

             the period   at June 30 

                 USD  USD 

 2021                  

 Vivere Global Ltd (Previously 1dentity International Ltd)                       (3,412)        (9,993) 

                    
(c) Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with material non -controlling interests       

                    

 Summarised statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:       

                 Total   

                 comprehensive   Non- 

        Current   Current   

Non-
current     Loss income for the   controlling  

 Name    assets   liabilities   liabilities   Revenue  for the year year  interests 

        USD  USD  USD  USD  USD USD  USD 

 2021                  

 

Vivere Global Ltd (Previously 
1dentity                 

 

International 
Ltd)            9,090      1,000     41,325              247         (17,311)          (17,311)        (6,652) 

                    
(d) Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with material non -controlling interests       

 Summarised cash flow information:                

Net 
decrease 

 Name          Operating   Investing Financing  in cash and 

              activities  activities activities  

cash 
equivalents 

              USD  USD USD  USD 

 2021                  

 Vivere Global Ltd (Previously 1dentity  International Ltd)       (17,368)                 -              23,350          5,982  
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7. GOODWILL         THE GROUP 

            2022  2021 
            USD  USD 
 At 1 July         3,768,381            6,968,695  
 Impairment                       -               (3,200,314) 
 At 30 June           3,768,381            3,768,381  
               

(a) Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of 
acquisition of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.  

 

               

 The Group performs impairment tests on goodwill on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.   

 
              

 On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the gains and losses on disposal.   

               

(b) The goodwill in the Group is attributable to AfriSwitch Ltd, goodwill that arose on acquisition 
of the subsidiary in 31 October 2016 and is assessed to have an indefinite useful life.    

  
 Impairment considerations - including the impact of COVID -19 
 Management has performed an annual impairment assessment for goodwill balance as at 30 

June 2022 in line with the requirements of IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.   
               

 COVID-19 implications on the cash flow forecast  
 Management completed a scenario analysis with respect to the impact of COVID -19. Scenarios 

associated with the potential impact of COVID -19 on future cash flow projections have been 
considered given the evidence available at the time of finalising the annual financial 
statements. 

 

 

               

 These scenarios considered the following:  
 the length of the lockdown and the potential impacts;  
 macro-economic and industry factors;  
 global trends;  
 GDP; 
 inflation; and  
 growth rates.  
               

 Further, several macro trends emerging, that will shape the face of the industry and the 
evaluation of industries that are expected to experience differing demand profiles based on 
the lifting of COVID -19 lockdown restrictions, regardless of disease outcome, were factored 
s|®~ {^|^qk{k|®í« ^««k««{k|®Î 

 

 

               

 AfriSwitch Ltd -CGU 
 The recoverable amount is determined based on discounted cash flow valuation as per  the 

Group valuation method approved by the Board of Directors.   
               
 The valuation was performed on an enterprise value basis.  
               
 The value in use calculation took into consideration the following key assumption:  
               
 Growth rate  
 Growth rate of 6% (2021: 1.5%) used on current business and zero applied on future business. 

The growth rate is based on forecasted inflation and GDP growth.   
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 Terminal growth rate  
 

Terminal growth rate of 6% (2021: 1.5%) was used for current business with growth allowed for 
future business also. The growth rate considered steady state of growth to expediate revenue 
beyond the forecast period cash flows.  

 

 

 
              

 Discount rate  
 

Discount rate applied as at June 30, 2022 range from 19% for current business and 24% for future 
business (2021: 19% - 24%). The discount rate reflects both the time value of money and other 
specific risk relating to the entity. The discount rate was calculated based on industry data for 
company and country specific risk at a premium.  

 

 

 

 
              

 Cashflow projection  

 These calculations use cash flow projections based on projections by management covering a 
five year span.  

               

 Sensitivity to change in assumption  

 The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate.  

               

 Following this exercise, the recoverable amount stood at USD 6.5m. No impairment was 
recognised during the year ended June 30, 2022 (2021 : USD 3,200,314).  
   

8. EQUIPMENT                             

  Equipment comprise s the following:  

               2022             2021      

               
Accumulated  
 depreciation  

   
Carrying   
 Value  

       
Accumulated  
 depreciation  

   
Carrying   
 Value            

 Cost      
  

 
Cost  

    

          USD   USD   USD   USD   USD   USD 

  
Comp uter  
equipment  1,522                210    

     
1,312          -      

                         
-      -    

          1,522               210        1,312             -                  -                   -    

                                

  
Reconciliation of equipment - 2022 
   

             
Opening   
 balance  

          
 Closing   
 balance                      Additions  

 
Depreciation    

  
Computer 
equipment                

                   
-      

      
1,522    

                        
210    

             
1,312  

                               -      1,522                210     1,312  
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9. 

 
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 
THE GROUP 

 
THE COMPANY 

        2022  2021  2022  2021 
         USD    USD    USD    USD  
 Trade receivables       169,857     165,137                -                -    

 Receivable from related party     14,072                     -      31,044        20,590  
 Prepayments        14,295    17,384       6,635     8,529  
          198,224      182,521        37,679     29,119  
               

(a) THE GROUP 
  

           

 Exposure to credit risk           

 Trade receivables inherently expose the Group to credit risk, being the risk that the Group will 
incur financial loss if customers fail to make payments as they fall due.   

               
 The loss allowance provision is determined based on the following:     
 Country rating: CCC+ for Angola and BAA for Mauritius  
 Probability of default (PD): S&P rating matrix    
 Loss given for default (LGD): Basel                  
 The expected credit losses is at 2% of trade receivable and is insignificant.  
  

             
        2022  2022  2021  2021 

        

Estimated 
gross 

carrying 
amount at 

default  

 

Loss 
allowance 
(Lifetime 
expected 

credit loss) 

 

Estimate
d gross 
carrying 
amount 

at default  

 

Loss 
allowance 
(Lifetime 
expected 

credit 
loss) 

 Expected credit loss rate:    USD    USD    USD    USD  
 Less than 30 days past due        44,979                 -     41,647   - 

 31-60 days past due        44,991                 -                   -     - 
 61-90 days past due                  -                   -              -     - 
 91-120 days past due                  -                   -          41,643   - 
 121-150 days past due                  -                   -               -     - 
 151-180 days past due                  -                   -          41,644   - 
 Over 180 days          79,887                 -       40,203   - 
 Total         169,857                 -       165,137   - 
               

 The Group adopted the simplified approach method to compute the expected credit loss (ECL) 
of trade receivable. The ECL as at 30 June 2022 is insignificant.   

               

(b) THE COMPANY 
  

           

 Exposure to credit risk           
 The amount receivable from related party (Note 24) relates to expense paid on behalf of holding 

company. The amount is interest free, unsecured and repayable upon demand. The Company 
adopted a simplified approach to compute expected credit loss (ECL). The ECL as at 30 June 
2022 is insignificant.  

 

 

 
              

 

Other receivables are unsecured, interest free and are receivable on demand.  
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9A FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST  
  

      THE GROUP  THE COMPANY 
        2022  2021  2022  2021 
         USD    USD    USD    USD  
 Loans to related parties                   -                        -            127,975             57,975  

                       -                   -            127,975             57,975  
               

 
All of the financial assets at amortised cost are denominated in USD. The loan is interest free, 
unsecured and repayable upon demand. As a result, there is no exposure to foreign exchange 
risk. The company adopt a general approach to compute expected credit loss (ECL). The ECL 
as at 30 June 2022 is insignificant. 
  

 
 

 

               
10. CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS 
THE GROUP  

THE COMPANY 
        2022  2021  2022  2021 
         USD    USD    USD    USD  
 Cash at bank     222,942  

 
     505,692  

 
         94,175  

 
          31,998  

 
Short term investments*    515,871   2,239,084                   -                         -    

        738,813  
 

2,744,776  
 

         94,175  
 

          31,998  
               
 * This relates to the cash held by the brokers.    
 

For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash 
at bank and short term investments.  
  

 

               
11. STATED CAPITAL       THE GROUP AND 

     
  

      THE COMPANY 
            2022  2021 
 Issue of shares:         USD  USD 
 Unpaid shares                       100                   100  

 Fully paid shares           22,000,000     22,000,000  
            22,000,100     22,000,100  
                

 

A reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and end of the period 
is shown below:   

 

 
 
Ordinary shares 

 
  

     

Number of shares   
    

  
     

2022  2021 
 At 1 July   

  
     22,000,000     22,000,000  

 At 30 June  
  

     22,000,000     22,000,000  
               

  
The holders of the ordinary shares shall have the following rights:   

 
(a) The right to one vote on a poll at a meeting of the Company on any resolution;  

 

 
(b) The right to an equal share in dividends authorised by the Board;   
(c) The right to an equal share in the distribution of the surplus assets of the Company.   
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12. 

 
EARNINGS PER SHARE  

   
 

               
   

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to 
ordinary shareholder of the company by the number of ordinary shares during the period.  
  

 

                  THE GROUP 
              2022  2021 
               USD    USD  
 Net loss attributable to owners of the company     (3,078,216)     (2,220,352) 

 Number of shares in issue  
  

  22,000,000     22,000,000  

 Basic loss per share  
  

              (0.14)               (0.10) 

 

13. BORROWINGS    
   

                        THE GROUP 
            2022  2021 

 Non-current         USD  USD 
 Loans              131,306    145,175  

               

 The loans are unsecured, interest free and repayable after more than one year, with no 
specific repayment term.   

 
              

 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing 
activities  

THE GROUP 

 
       

  2021  Cashflows  2022 

 
       

   USD    USD    USD  
 Borrowings      

  
 145,175      (13,869)   131,306  

 
                            

14. OTHER PAYABLES   THE GROUP  THE COMPANY 
        2022  2021  2022  2021 

         USD    USD    USD    USD  
 Other payables          76,996      70,404              101           100  
 Accruals          17,959        7,774           9,520        6,774  

            94,955      78,178           9,621        6,874  

               

 Other payables are interest free, unsecured and payable on demand.  
               

15. INCOME TAX 
 

                         

 The Company, being the holder of a Global Business Licence, is liable to income tax in 
Mauritius on its taxable profit arising from its world -wide income at the rate of 15%.   The 
Company may deduct any foreign taxes suffered on the foreign sourced income to th e 
extent it does not exceed the Mauritian tax on the foreign income. Alternatively, the 
Company may claim an 80% partial exemption on specific sources of income such as 
foreign -sourced dividend income, as prescribed under the Income Tax Act 1995.   

 

 

 

 

 Capital gains are outside the scope of the Mauritian tax net while trading profits made by 
the Company from the sale of shares are exempt from tax.   As at 30 June 2022, there was 
no chargeable income for the Company (2021: Nil).  
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 The foregoing is based on applicable tax laws and practices  in force which may be subject 
to changes.  

 

       
THE GROUP 

 

THE COMPANY 
        2022  2021  2022  2021 

 
 

      USD  USD   USD    USD  
 Income tax expense       

 
 

 

 Current tax on the adjusted profit for the 
year at 15% (2021: 15%) 

    37,217        8,921    -                 -    

 Witholding tax          13,386                 -                     -                38  
            50,603        8,921      -               38  

 

 
A reconciliation between income tax credit and the product of accounting loss multiplied by the 
Company's tax rate for the year ended 30 June 2022 is as follows:  

 
 

                      
THE GROUP 

 

THE COMPANY 

 
       2022  2021  2022  2021 

 
       USD  USD   USD    USD  

 
(Loss)/profit before tax     (3,027,613)  (2,214,843) 

 
 237,991      

(21,707) 

 Income tax calculated at 
domestic tax rate of 15%  

    (454,142)     (332,226)     35,699       (3,256) 

 Impairment on goodwill                    -      480,047              -             -    
 Exempt income            (14,322)     (195,583)  (52,500)   (15,000) 
 Expenses not allowable         503,561           83,457      16,801     18,256  
 Tax credit          (13,386)      (31,922)              -              -    
 Withholding tax              13,386            5,110               -               -    
 TDS paid             15,506                  38               -              38  

 Income tax expense           50,603            8,921              -      38  

  
          

   

 Tax liability     
   

 THE GROUP 

 
       

   
 2022  2021 

 
       

   
 USD  USD 

 At start     
   

 (5,709)     (7,077) 

 Tax charge for the year   
   

 (37,217)     (8,921) 

 Tax paid during the year    
   

  10,619      10,289  

 APS paid during the year    
   

    6,992   -    

 At end       
   

 (25,315)     (5,709) 

 
       

   
    

16. REVENUE 
    THE GROUP  

THE COMPANY 

 
       2022  2021  2022  2021 

 
        USD    USD    USD    USD  

 Dividend Income          64,267           24,713  
  350,000     100,000  

 Revenue from services: 
  

   
    

 Fraud management services 
  

        90,865          89,647  
               -             -    

 

ATM and card transaction 
services 

 
      315,070       310,923  

              -                    -    

 Management fees and other services        117,282          98,901  
            -                   -    

 
             587,484       524,184    350,000     100,000  
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17. OTHER INCOME 
   THE GROUP  

THE COMPANY 
        2022  2021  2022  2021 

         USD    USD    USD    USD  
 Interest income                1,268               47           -                  -    

 Foreign exchange gain              4,992       152,205              -                    -    

                  6,260       152,252             -                    -    
               

               

18. FINANCE COST     THE GROUP  
THE COMPANY 

 
       2022  2021  2022  2021 

 
        USD    USD    USD    USD  

 Interest paid  
    8,457        2,593    -                  -    

   
       8,457     2,593         -                  -    

 

19. EXPENSES      THE GROUP  THE COMPANY 

         
2022  2021  2022  2021 

 Other expenses       USD    USD    USD    USD                  
 Bank charges         6,358      8,038         564               468  
 Other expenses                  -             -         4,050             4,444  
 Exchange loss      71,375                -                 -                       -    
           77,733    8,038       4,614             4,912                  
 Professional fees             

 Licence fees          2,400      2,400       2,400     2,400  
 Audit Fees        20,875       19,458     11,106       7,589  
 Legal & Professional fees    132,307    110,668     19,386       24,790  
 Accounting fees          5,100   5,100       5,100          5,100  
         160,682   137,626     37,992        39,879  
 Total other expenses 238,415  

 
  145,664  

 
  42,606  

 
        44,791  

                

 Administrative expenses    
       

 Administration fee        21,800       23,600     21,800        23,600  
 Listing fee        10,000                 -                 -                      -    
 Directors fees        34,605    40,939     34,605           40,939  
 Management fees       153,364      53,620          -                  -    
 Annuity fees        14,498    17,567                -                       -    
 Service fees        97,774    96,018                -                      -    
 Advisory fees                  -      318,948               -                       -    
 Travel expenses       1,553             -                  -                   -    
 Depreciation             210       -                  -                  -    
 Other services       75,742     43,920     12,998        12,377  

         409,546   594,612    69,403      76,916  
                
 Total Expenses       47,961     740,276   112,009     121,707  
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20. 

 
BUSINESS COMBINATION 

                                

  Acquisition of additional shares in subsidiary              

  In December 2021, the Group acquired an additional 20% in Vivere Global Limited for USD 1 
in non-cash consideration, increasing its ownership from 80% to 100%.     

   
The following summarises the effect of changes in the Group's (parent) ownership in Vivere 
Global Limited.  

  

                              2021 

                              USD 
 Parent's ownership interest at beginning of period         (40,305) 
 Effect of change in parent's ownership interest            (9,993) 
 Loss for the year            (66,018) 
 Parent's ownership interest at end of the period          (116,316) 

   

The following table summarises the consideration paid for Vivere Global Ltd and the amounts 
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed recognised at the acquisition date.  

  

                              2021 

  Consideration                        USD 

  Consideration                         
1 

21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  
  

  

 

             
  

 The Grou§ó« ^|i ®rk +~{§^|·í« ^g®s´s®sk« k¶§~«k s® ®~ ^ ´^ªsk®· ~p ps|^|gs^z ªs«y«Ð {^ªyk® ªs«yÏ gªkis® 
ªs«y ^|i zs©¯sis®· ªs«yÎ Prk 5ª~¯§ó« ^|i ®rk +~{§^|·í« ~´kª^zz ªs«y {^|^qk{k|® §ª~qª^{{k p~g¯« 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimis e potential adverse effects on the 
5ª~¯§ó« ^|i ®rk +~{§^|·í« ps|^|gs^z §kªp~ª{^|gkÎ 

 

 

 

 

             
  

 (a) Market risk     
  

 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. The types of risk that the Group is exposed in relation to 
market prices are foreign currency risk. 

 

 
                

 THE GROUP 
          

  

 The currency profile of the Group's financial assets and liabilities are summarised as follows:  

 

      
 

 
2022 

 
2021 

 

      

  Financial 
assets  

 Financial 
liabilities   

Financial 
assets  

 Financial 
liabilities  

 

      
  USD   USD   USD 

 
 USD  

 
USD 

    
    10,367,250       142,439   11,642,484  

 
      162,344  

 
EUR 

    
         260,079       109,137    1,140,829  

 
    66,718  

 
CHF 

    
                   -                   -         389,141  

 
                   -    

 
HKD 

    
                   -                   -           44,323  

 
                   -    

 
CAD 

    
                  65                 -         122,696  

 
             -    

 
GBP 

    
                   -                   -         132,173  

 
                  -    

 

      
    10,627,394       251,576   13,471,646  

 
     229,062  

 

             
  

 Financial assets exclude prepayments, goodwill and equipment.    
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
          

         

  Financial assets comprise of:                     

  THE GROUP - 2022               USD EUR CHF TOTAL 

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss             9,394,979             -                -        9,394,979  

  
Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  

                309,673             -                -           309,673  

  Trade and other receivables                  183,929             -                -           183,929  

  Cash and cash equivalents                 478,669   260,079             65         738,813  

                           10,367,250   260,079             65    10,627,394  

                                

  THE GROUP - 2021       USD EUR   CHF HKD CAD GBP TOTAL 

  
Financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss 

     10,561,733                           -                        -                             -                    -                     -           10,561,733  

  Trade and other receivables          1,040,175            1,140,829          389,141                 44,323       122,696       132,173           2,869,337  

  Cash and cash equivalents              40,576                           -                        -                             -                    -                     -                   40,576  

                 11,642,484       1,140,829       389,141            44,323   122,696    132,173    13,471,646  

                
       

  

                  2022 2021 

  Financial liabilities comprise of:        USD   EUR TOTAL USD EUR TOTAL 

  Loan Payable                   131,306                -            131,306       145,175                   -                145,175  

  Other payables            94,955                           -          94,955         11,461          66,718                 78,179  

  Current income tax liabilities                  25,315                -              25,315           5,708                   -                     5,708  

                          251,576       -          251,576       162,344          66,718              229,062  














